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Statement of  
compliance

For year ended 30 June 2017

Hon Sue Ellery MLC
Minister for Education and Training

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament,  
the Annual Report of the Department of Training and Workforce Development for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. 

ANNE DRISCOLL 
A/Director General
(Accountable Authority)

5 September 2017
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An unprecedented number of Aboriginal students now graduate from year 12 and there is 
nothing more rewarding than seeing our young people transition into the workforce and 

further education. The ripple effect is creating positive change throughout our  
community and helping to close the gap of disadvantage in Western Australia.

BRENTON TURNER | ABORIGINAL YOUTH TRANSITION STRATEGY 

The year  
in review 
Executive overview 
Features
Finances

The year in review 
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A/Director General’s overview

Executive overview
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I commenced in the role of A/Director General of the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development 
in May 2017 at the end of a year characterised by 
significant reforms and new challenges.

Many of the achievements set out below and within 
this broader report are therefore attributable to 
the leadership and personal endeavour of Dr Ruth 
Shean who led this agency between 2009 and May 
2017. Since commencing, I have been repeatedly 
impressed by the agency’s responsiveness, robust 
governance, and most importantly, the sophisticated 
systems to identify, deliver and monitor targeted 
and quality vocational education and training and 
workforce development services to meet industry 
and community needs.  

Considerable resolve and effective change 
management were necessary during the early part 
of the financial year to complete implementation of 
a number of cross-government efficiency measures. 
The Department while continuing to focus on training 
outcomes and high standards of service delivery, 
at the same time achieved the financial efficiencies 
required. The TAFE colleges, too, continued the 
process of rationalising the number of colleges from 
11 to five in 2016–17, including reallocation of staff 
and amalgamation of systems and processes within 
larger, more robust and cost effective colleges.  

Integral to the sector, the TAFE colleges, along with 
our not for profit and commercial training providers 
continued to respond with accessible and highly 
valued training. Increasingly the VET pathway is 
being seen as a rewarding and competitive choice. 
Recent national data comparing VET qualifications 
with bachelor degrees has shown training graduates 
currently have a better chance of employment and 
slightly higher median salaries. Additionally levels of 
student satisfaction in the WA training sector are also 
very positive with overall satisfaction at 87.4% among 
publicly funded VET graduates.

Significant progress was made in reviewing the cost 
drivers of training providers to ensure that course 

There is much work ahead but the recognition 
of training as central to the Plan for Jobs and 
to Government is energising for the sector 
and its people.

funding allocations reflect the true costs of delivery. 
The review aims to deliver a more effective, efficient 
and transparent distribution of funds.  Consultation 
and testing of the model will continue into 2018. 
Quality control also continued as a priority during 
the year, with the Department reviewing compliance 
systems and maintaining proportionate risk based 
audit processes.

Concessional course fees were reduced from 50% to 
30% of the normal fee rate for eligible students in 2017, 
to make training more affordable for people from low 
income households. First quarter 2017 data indicates 
that this has already increased participation in training 
for this cohort of students. The focus on aligning publicly 

The year in review 
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funded training to priority occupations and employment 
growth continued with around two thirds of all training 
places being in broad priority training areas for the full 
2016 calendar year.

The Department played a key role in working with other 
states and territories to advise the Commonwealth 
Government on issues with its VET FEE HELP student loan 
scheme. The replacement VET Student Loans scheme 
came into place on 1 January 2017.

A number of training providers ceased operations in 
2016–17 following changes to the Commonwealth 
Government’s VET student loans scheme which displaced 
thousands of students around Australia. The Department 
worked closely with TAFE colleges and its network of 
private training providers, the Commonwealth Government 
and other states and territories to assist students to 
continue with another training provider to complete 
their course. 

The State election in March 2017 brought a new 
government and a new Minister with dual responsibility 
for both Education and Training. The State Government’s 
election platform centred on a Plan for Jobs; aimed at 
creating a more vibrant and diversified economy with a 
broader range of jobs and industries. Central to the Jobs 
Plan are many initiatives directly relevant to skilling WA’s 
labour force through growing services sectors, diversified 
and innovative industries and a significant Government 
infrastructure agenda.

In delivering on the State Government’s commitments the 
Department released a new Western Australian Skilled 
Migration Occupation List which targeted occupations 
only where there was evidence of unmet demand and a 
genuine need to attract overseas workers.  Additionally, 

from mid-March applications for the Perth region 
under the Regional Sponsored Migration Scheme were 
suspended. These changes were effected to ensure that, 
whenever possible, Western Australians are given first 
preference for WA jobs. 

The agency’s effectiveness is very much dependent on 
the relationship with its partners. The identification of 
emerging training needs primarily centres around the 
State Training Board and its network of nine Industry 
Training Councils which in turn consult and research 
on the skills needs within Western Australia. The new 
State Government’s Plan for Jobs emphasises the central 
role of the Board in guiding VET priorities. I thank the 
Chairman, Mr Jim Walker, the Board and ITC colleagues 
for their leadership, effective industry engagement 
and collaboration with the Department to swiftly 
mobilise resources to identify skills gaps and emerging 
industry priorities.

Career advice and Aboriginal workforce development 
services offered by the Department were extended during 
2016–17 through additional services contracted to the 
not for profit sector resulting in improved diversity and 
accessibility, including through an extensive range of 
additional regional locations. Both of these services will be 
important in delivering the State Government’s proposed 
Industry Skill Centres from TAFE colleges. These centres 
will provide localised access points and outreach services 
to local industry, employers, apprentices and trainees and 
job-seekers to provide training solutions for business and 
accessible careers advice for prospective students. Work 
has commenced to develop a concept and implementation 
arrangements to create Industry Skill Centres.

Work has also commenced to implement other election 
commitments including the freezing of TAFE fees, 

increasing apprenticeships and traineeships in major 
government construction projects and ensuring locally 
available trade training in specialised craft occupations. 
The Department is working closely with other agencies 
tasked with delivering the Plan for Jobs to ensure skilled 
workers are available as projects come to fruition. The 
Department will support the State Government in 
evaluating the Commonwealth Government’s Skilling 
Australians Fund, an initiative recently announced to 
consider how it can be utilised to increase apprenticeship 
and traineeship places in WA.

There is much work ahead but the recognition of training 
as central to the Plan for Jobs and to Government is 
energising for the sector and its people.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all of 
the staff at the Department for the warm welcome and 
generosity in sharing their considerable sector knowledge, 
in my first weeks in the Department. As referred above, 
the agency, and the sector more broadly, enjoys a wealth 
of committed professionals who collectively ensure a 
strong and vibrant training sector. May I particularly 
thank the Executive Directors of the Department for 
their support and patience in educating me and for their 
impressive intellects, dedication, collaborative approach 
and passion in skilling Western Australians.

ANNE DRISCOLL 
Acting Director General

The year in review 
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Corporate team  
priorities 

SIMON WALKER
Executive Director
Policy, Planning and Innovation

Policy, Planning and Innovation 
Directorate is responsible for 
developing workforce plans, policies 
and strategies to guide the State’s 
public investment in VET. The 
Directorate also collects training 
statistics and provides research, 
analysis and reports on training activity.

Priorities for 2016–17 included 
refining policies for VET in Schools, 
implementing national VET data 
reforms, developing a new regional 
planning framework and providing 
policy input to the Australian Industry 
Skills Committee’s Training Package 
development process.

RUSSELL BROWN
Executive Director 
Service Resource Management

Service Resource Management 
Directorate is responsible for 
purchasing training.

Reform of the VET sector and 
streamlining TAFE college services 
were the main focus for 2016–17. 
Design of a new funding model  
and purchasing contracts were 
aimed at ensuring training course 
funding properly reflects the true 
cost of quality training. 

KAREN HO
Executive Director
Service Delivery

Service Delivery Directorate delivers 
services directly to the community.

Improved linkages between 
the Department’s career and 
workforce development services 
and contracted service providers 
provided better services to  
support job-seekers, including 
Aboriginal people.

GRAHAM THOMPSON
Executive Director
Corporate

Corporate Directorate is responsible 
for providing corporate support 
services to the Department and 
TAFE colleges.

Reform of the VET sector and 
consolidation of the TAFE college 
services were the main focus 
for 2016–17. Priorities included 
supporting TAFE colleges with 
integration of systems and change 
management.

MEETINGS
Corporate Executive met 47 times during 2016–17. Minutes of meetings are accessible to staff on the Department’s intranet.
More information on the Corporate Executive team, including qualifications, experience and professional appointments is provided on page 134.

The year in review 



 2016–17 Annual Report | 9

AppendicesContents Performance summary Significant issues Disclosures and legal complianceThe organisation Achievements 2016–17 

Features in 2016-17

VET sector

July
Aboriginal Police 
Cadet Program 
launched

October
Aboriginal Workforce 
Development Centre 
service provider wins 
prestigious Community 
Business award

August
Skills West Expo 
– more than 70 
exhibitors showcased 
VET course options, 
and employment and 
training pathways

November
New $9.5 million Electrical 
Centre opens in the Pilbara, 
providing high quality, 
industry relevant training

September
Muresk Institute 
named finalist in the 
2016 'Revitalising the 
regions' category of 
the Premier’s Awards 

December
The Department’s new 
website goes live

The year in review 
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January
Department’s 
career services 
rebranded 

April
Delegate from the 
Kenyan Technical 
and VET Authority 
describes WA’s VET 
as 'world class'

February
New TAFE health 
training facility 
opens in the 
Pilbara region

May
State Government 
announces TAFE fee 
freeze to encourage more 
Western Australians to 
access training

March
TAFE Admissions 
full time studies 
guide goes live

 
June
Perth is removed from the Regional 
Sponsored Migration Scheme 
and a new WA Skilled Migration 
Occupation List paves the way for 
more jobs for Western Australians

The year in review 
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Finances

$ In (‘000)

STATE APPROPRIATIONS

Service appropriation 353 472
Royalties for Regions Fund 3 947
Services received free of charge 496

Total: 620 164

COMMERCIAL AND OTHER REVENUE

User charges and fees 40 158
Interest revenue 1 236
Other revenue 7 288

COMMONWEALTH GRANTS  
AND SUBSIDIES

Grants and subsidies 213 567

$ Out (‘000)

Total: 551 277

Total: 458 985

GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES BREAKDOWN:

TAFE colleges and Western Australian  
Academy of Performing Arts 341 098 (74%)
Private training providers 90 385 (20%)
Other training providers 25 355 (5%)
Other grants 2 147 (1%)

EMPLOYEE 
BENEFITS EXPENSE
52 768

SUPPLIES, SERVICES 
AND OTHER COSTS 
39 524

GRANTS AND  
SUBSIDIES 
458 985

58%
OF TOTAL

83%
OF TOTAL

10%
OF TOTAL

8%
OF TOTAL

7%
OF TOTAL

34%
OF TOTAL

The year in review 
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I think it is important for everyone, especially Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people to undertake a training course because it 

opens up so many opportunities within the workforce.

KAHLI KING ELLIOTT | WA ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER STUDENT OF THE YEAR 2015

Achievements 
2016–17 
Support for jobs
Training for jobs

Achievements 2016–17 
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Support for jobs

PEOPLE IN JOBS

FULL TIME

913 300

TOTAL

1 342 800

PART TIME

429 500

WORKFORCE PARTICIPATION

67.5%

WESTERN AUSTRALIA AUSTRALIA

64.7%

*PEOPLE IN STATE PRIORITY OCCUPATIONS 

ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2016–17

More direct industry advice through  
the State Training Board 

A new skilled migration list gives Western  
Australians first preference for jobs

Support for small businesses to develop 
a skilled workforce through a Workplace 
Essentials website

Scholarships awarded to 229 women  
training in non-traditional industries

Development of a new regional  
workforce planning framework

63.3% OF THE POPULATION IN THE WORKFORCE 312 600 316 400

2016–172015–16 
200 000

250 000

300 000

350 000

Profile of the WA labour market

* Refer to page 139 for definition

Achievements 2016–17 
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Training for jobs

*TOTAL COURSE ENROLMENTS  
  IN 2016: 129 658

APPRENTICES AND TRAINEES

REGIONAL

41 520

VET IN SCHOOLS

8 397

FOUNDATION COURSES

27 907

ABORIGINAL

10 608

PRIORITY TRAINING

86 981

ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2016–17

85.2% of VET graduates were employed 
or in further study in 2016 

Increased operational efficiencies through 
centralisation of TAFE corporate services, 
regulatory and policy functions

Investment of over $25 million to assist  
priority target groups to achieve training  
outcomes and increase job opportunities

Money for training infrastructure including  
$42 million for expansion of Murdoch Campus  
and technology upgrades across the TAFE sector

70% of career and workforce development 
clients entered training, employment or a  
new career 

Muresk attracted 2 110 students (up from just 
44 when the Institute was returned to the State 
Government in 2012–13)

POPULATION THAT PARTICIPATED 
IN TRAINING

21 242
COMMENCEMENTS

13 272
COMPLETIONS

34 609
IN TRAINING (AS AT 30 JUNE 2017)

INTERNATIONAL 
ENROLMENTS** 

5 026 

*Categories are not mutually exclusive.
**Includes fee for service. 

Achievements 2016–17 

5.4%
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I studied a Certificate III and IV in Fitness to better myself 
and to help others change their lives and become better 
people. I believe effort and success come hand in hand, 

you cannot succeed without putting in the effort.

LUCY TURNER | FITNESS STUDENT

The organisation 

The  
organisation 
Strategies
Structure
Context
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Strategies
The Department’s functions are aligned to the Strategic 
Plan 2014–18 which responds to changing priorities 
of the training sector and labour market. Performance 
is measured through an outcome based management 
framework (see page 113 for the OBM and key 
performance indicators).

Strategic Goal 1: Plan and coordinate a strategic State 
Government response to workforce development issues 
in Western Australia.

Strategic Goal 2: Western Australia’s workforce needs 
are met through attraction, retention, participation and 
skilled migration strategies.

Strategic Goal 3: Investment and reform delivers an 
innovative, flexible and responsive training system.

Strategic Goal 4: The Department’s services, systems  
and performance are client centred, of the highest 
quality and managed in an open, transparent and 
accountable manner.               

Preliminary work commenced on a new Strategic Plan, 
which will reflect the changing labour market, industry 
needs, innovative and affordable skills training, and 
career development strategies to enable Western 
Australians to find employment.

Structure
For the majority of 2016–17, the Department was 
structured around a funder/purchaser/provider model, 
which ensures transparency and accountability. Outcomes 
directly achieve the State Government goals* of:
• results-based service delivery: greater focus on 

achieving results in key service delivery areas, for  
the benefit of all Western Australians; and

• stronger focus on the regions: greater focus on 
service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall 
quality of life in remote and regional areas.

Responsible Minister
The Department was responsible to the Minister for 
Training and Workforce Development, Hon Liza Harvey 
MLA until 17 March 2017 and since then to the Minister 
for Education and Training, Hon Sue Ellery MLC.

Enabling legislation
The Department was established on 30 October 2009, 
under section 35 of the Public Sector Management  
Act 1994.

Administered legislation**
The Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 is 
administered by the Minister for Education and Training 
with the assistance of the Department. 

*New State Government goals were approved by Cabinet  
on 19 June 2017.

**The Department complies with a range of national and          
State legislation. Please see page 136 for the full list.

Vision
All Western Australians can be part of a 
skilled workforce to meet the economic and 
community needs of Western Australia.

Mission
We work to build the Western Australian 
workforce to meet the State’s economic and 
community needs.

Values
�   Innovation   
�   Integrity 
�   Quality 
�   Inclusiveness  
�   Collaboration

The organisation 
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Organisational structure 

*A/Director General
Anne Driscoll

Office of the  
Director General
Adam Walker  
A/Director

Service Resource Management
Russell Brown
Executive Director

Training Resource Allocation
Kevin Coombes
Director

Procurement Strategy
Geoff Holden
Director

Muresk Institute
Prue Jenkins
General Manager

Training Infrastructure  
Management
Helen Smart 
Director

Policy, Planning and Innovation
Simon Walker
Executive Director

Policy, Planning and Research
Dr Ross Kelly
Director

State Workforce Planning
Gary Fitzgerald
Director

Office of the State  
Training Board
Kathy Hoare
Director

Performance Evaluation  
and Statistics
Mark Bloomfield
Director

Human Resources
Peter Wishart
Director

Finance Services
Satvinder Sekhon
A/Director

Information and  
Communications Technology
Darren Pointer
Director

Training Business Services
Glenda Husk
Director

Corporate
Graham Thompson
Executive Director

Service Delivery Operations
Jodie Wallace
Director

TAFE International WA
Carmen Broderick
General Manager

Service Delivery Strategy
Philip Wyles 
Director

Service Delivery
Karen Ho
Executive Director

*Dr Ruth Shean was Director General until 3 July 2017. Anne Driscoll commenced performing the duties of Acting Director General on 15 May 2017. 

The organisation 
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Reform of the VET sector continued to be a 
priority at both national and State levels.

National and  
State context

National
Through representation of the Minister and senior 
Department officials on national committees, the 
Department provided input and advice on key reforms 
in 2016–17. 

These included:
• increasing the role of industry through the Australian 

Industry and Skills Committee to support innovation, 
jobs and growth;

• the VET Student Loans scheme; 

• strengthening VET regulation to improve the quality 
of VET delivery;

• improving VET data collection to inform policy 
design and consumer choice;

• strategies to improve apprentice and 
trainee numbers;

• the National Partnership Agreement on 
Skills Reform;

• National Harmonisation of Apprenticeships; and

• training package reform.

Two Commonwealth/State agreements support 
Commonwealth and State funding arrangements:
• National Agreement for Skills and Workforce 

Development (established in 2008 and reviewed in 
2012) setting out long term objectives in skills and 
workforce development through training targets; 
and 

• National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform 
(2012–2017) which requires structural reforms 
under transparency, quality, access and equity, and 
efficiency across five training targets. Note: this 
Partnership expired on 30 June 2017 (see Significant 
Issues on page 50).

Western Australia received the following payments 
from the Commonwealth Government for 2016–17:
• $151 million per year through the NASWD; and

• $53.8 million from the National Partnership 
Agreement on Skills Reform.

The Commonwealth Government announced the 
establishment of a permanent Skilling Australians 
Fund in the Federal Budget 2017–18, to underpin a 
new National Partnership. It is estimated the fund will 
provide $1.5 billion nationally over four years from 
2017–18.

The Department provided 
input and advice on key 
reforms.

The organisation 
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Western Australia’s labour market conditions remained 
subdued in 2016–17 with the annual average growth 
in full time employment continuing to decline and 
annual average growth in part time employment 
increasing. This, along with changing industry priorities 
required the Department to reorganise its services 
and focus on creating more job opportunities for 
Western Australians.

Career and Aboriginal workforce development services 
were streamlined and re-branded to increase access 
and strengthen job support services across the state.

Training in priority skill areas continued, with a 
guaranteed training place for eligible students enrolled 
in courses that are deemed state priority qualifications.

A new Western Australian Skilled Migration Occupation 
List was developed in consultation with the Industry 
Training Council network and relevant State 
Government agencies to better target skilled jobs that 
genuinely require overseas workers, ensuring that 
Western Australians are a priority when it comes to 
securing jobs.

Preliminary work was undertaken to implement the 
State Government’s Plan for Jobs focusing on a range of 
industry sectors. Initiatives include:
• aligning training funding to the Government’s 

economic and strategic skill development policies;

• more equitable and affordable VET course fees;

• maximising apprenticeship and traineeship 

opportunities through government contracts;

• more access to VET courses for school students to 
increase participation; and

• maximising regional access to training and job 
opportunities.

The Department also played a pivotal role in 
implementing significant reform of the TAFE sector. 
Work undertaken included:
• consolidation of the TAFE colleges from 11 to 

five colleges;

• appointments of managing directors and governing 
council members; 

• designing a proposed new funding model; and

• centralisation of corporate services, regulatory and 
policy functions within the Department.

The organisation 
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Consultation
• Training sector reform project – 160 participants

• VET in Schools qualifications register – 9  
training councils

• TAFE Governing Councils – 22 participants

• Industry training advisory arrangements – 54 
participants

• Training Together – Working Together forum – 53 
participants

• Contracted Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Centres – 6 participants

• TAFE College Governance, Accountability and 
Information Network – 26 participants

• Contracted private training provider forum – 174 
participants

• Formalising minimum hours for school-based 
apprenticeships and traineeships – 90 stakeholders 
engaged

• Proposed amendments to the Vocational Education 
and Training (General) Regulations 2009 – 95 
stakeholders engaged

• Group training organisations – 28 stakeholders 
engaged

Information provision
• National reform, VET policy, program funding  

and services
• WA’s apprenticeship support services and  

policy changes 
• Regional workforce development alliances
• State Priority Occupation List 
• Training package development and endorsement 
• Unique student identifier

Professional development
• Training Providers Forum
• E-learning workshops and webinars

Regional stakeholders
Regional visits provided a useful forum for stakeholders 
to discuss current issues in the region and be engaged 
and informed of the Department’s policies and 
strategies for training and workforce development. 

This was especially important during the transition to 
the new TAFE network and preliminary consultations to 
meet the State Government’s Plan for Jobs. 

Issues which required coordination and implementation 
included:
• streamlined corporate, strategic and business planning, 

delivery and performance agreement processes, policy, 
information, technology and procurement;

• standard key performance indicators;
• participation in international markets aligned with 

State objectives;
• infrastructure consolidation and specialisation of 

training delivery;
• preliminary consultation to address commitments is 

the State Government's Plan for Jobs, including;
◦ transforming TAFE colleges into Industry Skills 

Centres;

◦ development of the Defence Force workforce 
development strategy; and

◦ development of a business case for a new 
Specialist Trade Training Centre at North 
Metropolitan TAFE.

Satisfaction
• 87.4% of VET graduates were satisfied with the 

quality of training

• 78.9% of employers were satisfied with the quality 
of training (employers with vocational qualifications 
as a job requirement)

• 92% of customers were satisfied that Career Centre 
services met their needs

• 86.2% of job seekers were satisfied with 
AWDC services

• 70% of clients were satisfied with migrant settlement 
services

Stakeholder engagement and consultation during 2016–17

Stakeholder engagement

The organisation 
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During my career in both the private and public sector,  
I have discovered the truth of the famous quote by  

A P J Abdul Kalam: ‘If four things are followed – having 
a great aim, acquiring knowledge, hard work, and 

perseverance then any dream can be achieved'.

SATVINDER S SEKHON | CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

Performance  
summary 
Workforce development supplement

Performance summary
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Workforce  
Development
A priority for 2016–17
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The Department of Training  
and Workforce Development

Increasing opportunities 
for jobs

Industry and regional guidance 
• Training council advice
• Workforce development plans
• Regional alliances

Training
• Publicly funded training
• Apprenticeships and traineeships
• International VET

Workforce development
• Career development
• Employer assistance
• Industry Skills Centres (under development)

Labour market intelligence
• Labour market research
• National and State data
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Science
Continuing work with the Department of Jobs, 
Tourism, Science and Innovation to develop 
the Science Technology Engineering and Maths 
strategy, to ensure the local workforce is able to 
capitalise on job opportunities.

Utilities
Registration of training contracts for new 
apprenticeships in electrical and line worker trades 
through Western Power. 

Defence
The development of a Draft 
Defence Workforce Development 
Strategy to assist in job creation 
in the defence industry.

Transport
Preliminary consultation and 
discussions regarding the 
development of a new specialist 
trade training centre and 
opportunities for apprenticeships 
and traineeships.

Construction
Expansion of the current government 
works training policy to include 
all major State Government 
funded construction with stronger 
compliance mechanisms.

Jobs for Western  
Australians
The Department is working closely with other 
agencies tasked with delivering the State 
Government’s Plan for Jobs to ensure skilled 
workers are available as projects come to 
fruition. Training is acknowledged as central  
to the Plan.
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
In 2016–17, Western Australians undertook 
training aligned with occupations currently  
in high demand.

2017 Western Australian Skilled Migration Occupation List
Sonographer* Vascular Surgeon*

Orthoptist* Obstetrician and Gynaecologist*

Audiologist Radiation Oncologist*

General Practitioner Midwife

Gastroenterologist* Registered Nurse (Child and Family Health)

Rheumatologist* Registered Nurse (Community Health)

Psychiatrist* Registered Nurse (Critical Care and Emergency)

Neurosurgeon* Registered Nurse (Mental Health)

Otorhinolaryngologist* Registered Nurse (Perioperative)

*All occupations in this table are eligible for regional areas. The occupations indicated by * are also eligible for 
Perth surrounding areas. For more information please see dtwd.wa.gov.au.
The new WASMOL will target skilled jobs that genuinely require overseas workers, ensuring that Western 
Australians are a priority when it comes to securing jobs.

Top occupations aligned to course enrolments in 2016
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ELECTRICIANS
CHILD CARERS

AGED AND DISABLED CARERS
WELFARE SUPPORT WORKERS

BUILDING AND PLUMBING LABOURERS
ENROLLED AND MOTHERCRAFT NURSES

MOTOR MECHANICS
EARTHMOVING PLANT OPERATORS

EDUCATION AIDES
WAITERS

PLUMBERS
NURSING SUPPORT AND  

PERSONAL CARE WORKERS

LARGEST INDUSTRY  
EMPLOYER IN 2016–17:  

HEALTHCARE AND  
SOCIAL ASSISTANCE
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
Statewide access to career and training advice is 
available through the Department’s network of 
Career Centres. The network assists people of all 
ages through the Career Centre website,  social 
media and technology enabled service delivery.

Free Services
• Statewide employment and training 

assistance for Aboriginal employers 
and job seekers

• Access to group training, which gives 
businesses access to apprentices and 
trainees on a rotational basis 

• Overseas qualifications 
assessments

• Scholarships of up to $3 000 
for women training in 
non-traditional industries

• Career services across WA 
(resumes, interviews, guidance)                                                           

• Access to career assistance for 
migrants and ex-offenders

• Support services for groups 
experiencing barriers to training 
or employment

• VET courses for school students
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
Apprenticeships and traineeships are vital to 
ensure an adequate supply of skilled workers 
in the labour market to address Western 
Australia’s current and future industry needs.

Earn money
• A first year building apprentice can earn 

up to $600 per week and gets training on 
the job and at TAFE. 

• Employers of apprentices and trainees  
may be eligible to receive government 
incentive payments.

• Apprentices and trainees traveling long 
distances to attend off the job training  
are eligible for a travel and 
accommodation allowance.

An apprentice/trainee living in Geraldton 
travelling to Perth to attend off the job 
training will be reimbursed approximately 
$142 for the travel and up to $70 per night 
for accommodation. Air travel of more 
than 1 200 kilometres is fully reimbursed 
(administrative conditions apply).

Tradies wages beat the grads, 
research shows
A recent research report commissioned by 
the Skilling Australia Foundation, ‘Perceptions 
are not reality: myths, realities and the critical 
role of vocational education and training 
in Australia’ (May 2017) shows that VET 
graduates earn more in their first year, with a 
$56 000 median full time income compared to 
$54 000 for bachelor degree graduates.

The report addresses some of the perceptions 
about vocational education and training and 
highlights the importance of VET pathways. 
The full report can be found at saf.org.au

“Trade apprentices can look 
forward to the good life in their 
first year after training, with 
new research showing they face 
better immediate outcomes 
than university graduates.”
Excerpt from story originally published in the West 
Australian online, 22 May 2017. Authors: Kim 
Macdonald and Melanie Burgess
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
In the midst of nationwide declining numbers 
of apprentices and trainees, Western Australia 
has maintained relative stability in the numbers 
of apprentices and trainees in training. 
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The subdued Western Australian economy has had an impact 
on the labour market and in particular on the numbers of 
apprentices and trainees in training.

The Department has responded to the declining trend in 
apprenticeships and traineeships by developing policies and 
initiatives to increase the number of apprenticeships and 
traineeships through:

• government building and construction contracts;
• group training initiatives to assist  

at-risk groups;

• school-based training;
• allowances and incentives.

The Department will work to ensure that Western Australia 
capitalises on opportunities for increasing apprenticeships and 
traineeships through the Commonwealth Government’s Skilling 
Australians Fund which aims to invigorate the apprenticeship 
and traineeship system.
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Brendan Carlson has gone from strength to strength since being named WA 
Apprentice of the year 2016. Following completion of his apprenticeship 
Brendan has been taken on by his host company Chevron in a maintenance 
technician role on the Wheatstone offshore platform.

He has also had the opportunity to be a guest speaker at the Australian Defence 
Force Skills seminar in Canberra, which focuses on helping ADF members in 
their successful transition to civilian employment through VET. He then went to 
India to make a presentation at the Australia – India Skills mission, talking about 
employment opportunities for apprentices.

Brendan credits his victory at the WA Training Awards to the amazing support he 
received from his family, friends and work colleagues.
“My family taught me how to be a better person and to never quit, regardless of 
the odds against you.” he said.
“I’ve met some pretty amazing people through the WA Training Awards and 
it has opened up my eyes for future career prospects. I still can’t believe the 
opportunities I have had to speak, meet, travel and hopefully influence people in 
a positive way. 
It has been a great journey so far. I definitely recommend it and would do it again 
in a heartbeat.”

BRENDAN CARLSON | WA APPRENTICE OF THE YEAR 2016

Jobs for Western  
Australians
Western Australian apprentices and trainees 
are showcased in the WA Training Awards.
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
Departmental strategies helped to generate 
apprenticeships and traineeships in Western 
Australia and make them more attractive to 
Western Australians.

Program Outcomes for 2016–17

Group Training Organisations employ apprentices and trainees 
and place them with host employers, giving businesses access to 
apprentices and trainees on a rotational basis without having to 
commit to a full term. The State funded Western Australian Group 
Training Program maintained its commitment to Aboriginal people,  
at risk students, people with disability, school-based, regional and 
remote area apprentices and trainees.

786 apprenticeship commencements 
1 385 traineeship commencements 

National Standards and supporting Evidence 
Guides were developed and endorsed by all  
states and territories, to facilitate consistent  
standards across Australia.

A Pre-apprenticeship is a Certificate II program that includes a 
mandatory period of workplace experience coordinated by the 
training provider. The aim is to provide students with industry 
specific training, combined with adequate time in a real workplace 
to gain skills, knowledge and behaviours to enable transition into an 
indentured apprenticeship. 

In 2016, there were 3 627 
pre-apprenticeship course enrolments

School-based Apprenticeships and Traineeships are available to full 
time students, with achievements contributing towards the Western 
Australian Certificate of Education.

1 682 commencements 
992 completions

The Aboriginal School-Based Training Program aims to increase 
the numbers of young Aboriginal students undertaking training and 
provides an opportunity for Aboriginal students in years 10, 11 and 12 
to start training while at school to gain a qualification or sustainable 
employment.

In 2016, there were 236 enrolments in the 
ASBT Institutional Based Training pathway

338 commencements in the ASBT  
Employment Based Training pathway

The Travel and Accommodation Allowance provides financial 
assistance to apprentices and trainees required to travel long 
distances to attend off the job training.

1 399 apprentices and trainees received 
funds through the TAA

The Apprenticeship Office provides efficient registration and 
administration of training contracts and upholds the quality and 
integrity of the apprenticeship system.

The average time to register a  
training contract was 3.6 days

4 170 overdue training plans 
were recovered

Harmonisation of Australian Apprenticeships continued to be a key 
national strategy to streamline the apprenticeship system.

The Department worked with industry 
training councils to achieve harmonisation 
in the nominal duration of apprenticeships.
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Rebranding
During 2016–17, the Department’s statewide career 
services were re-branded. The former Workforce 
Development Centres were renamed Career Centres 
and the entire network was given a consistent visual 
identity. The rebranding was aimed at increasing access 
to services through a network of 26 sites. 

Two contracted career centres help 
people who need specialist services:
• Mercycare assisted people from a culturally 

and linguistically diverse background to make 
educational, training and work choices. 

• Outcare assisted ex-offenders with career 
development and employment services.

The combined network  
of career centres:
• organised 1 692 career guidance workshops for 

school groups and other members of the community;

• achieved over 3.4 million visits to the Career Centre 
website in 2016–17;

• undertook 10 915 initial assessments to identify  
client needs; and

• conducted 14 745 career guidance sessions.

Jobs for Western  
Australians
The network of Career Centres builds on the 
professional career services of the Department’s 
Career Centre.

“The enduring strength of both the career centre 
network and the Aboriginal workforce development 
centre network has been their ability to respond to 
changing industry and community needs. 

In 2016–17, we saw both networks focus their 
services unerringly on jobs; offering guidance to 
employers and clients to increase their skills and 
employment prospects.”

KAREN HO | EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, SERVICE DELIVERY

70% of career and 
workforce development 
clients entered training, 
employment or a new 
career in 2016–17. 
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The Aboriginal Workforce Development Centres have 
helped to increase the participation of Aboriginal 
people in the workforce. Developing and strengthening 
connections with employers and reducing barriers to 
employment were key strategies.

The Aboriginal Youth Transition Program helps young 
Aboriginal people transition to further education, 
training or employment after leaving school.

Kalgoorlie

Carnarvon

Narrogin

Merridin

Geraldton

Esperance

Albany

Northam
Mandurah

Busselton
Margaret

River

Collie

Moora

Bunbury

Newman

Broome

Karratha

Halls Creek
Derby

Fitzroy
Crossing

South Headland

Kununurra

Manjimup

Career and Aboriginal
Workforce Development
Centres

Services include:
• advice to employers on recruitment and retention;

• linking employers with jobseekers and service providers;

• liaison with schools and support for students 
transitioning from school into further education, 
training or employment; and

• providing information on career pathways.

During 2016–17, the combined network of 
Aboriginal workforce development centres assisted:

• 554 Aboriginal job seekers into employment 
or training;

• 464 employers with their Aboriginal employment 
strategies; and

• 423 school students registered with the Aboriginal 
Youth Transition Program.

In 2016–17, four Aboriginal Training and 
Employment service providers were re-branded 
as AWDCs, increasing the network to nine 
centres located in Perth, South West, Kimberley, 
Goldfields, Mid West, Pilbara, Wheatbelt, Peel and 
the Great Southern regions.

Mirrabooka

Cannington

Perth East
Perth

Career Centres

Aboriginal Workforce 
Development Centre 
and Career Centre

Specialist Services

Jobs for Western  
Australians
The Department funded several programs 
specifically to increase the numbers of 
Aboriginal people in employment.
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
The network of Career Centres builds on 
the professional career services of the 
Department’s Career Centre.

Staff at Northam Career Centre (delivered by Directions WA) 
were confident that they had made a real difference when 
they had encouraging feedback from one of their clients.
Christine Groves, client of the Northam Career Centre, could 
not have been happier with the assistance she received and 
took the time to thank the staff for their outstanding service 
and support.
“I would like to say a huge thank you to the ladies at the 
Northam office for their ongoing support and for helping 
me with my cover letter, which landed me my dream job,” 
said Christine. Looking back on the service she received 
she recalls that nothing was too much trouble for the staff. 
“Every time I walked into the centre I was greeted with a 
smile and endless support.”
Christine has now been employed for around 12 months and 
says thank you to the staff at Northam for the exceptional 
customer service.
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Jobs for Western  
Australians
Western Australians are given first  
preference for WA jobs. The State and Territory Nominated Migration Program is managed by the Department 

on behalf of the Western Australian Government. Two visas are available under the 
SNMP – the Skilled Nominated visa (subclass 190) and Skilled Regional (Provisional)  
visa (subclass 489). 

To be considered for State nomination in Western Australia an applicant must have an 
occupation on the Western Australian Skilled Migration Occupation List, and also meet 
other selection criteria set by the State Government. 

In June 2017, the Department of Training and Workforce Development released a new 
WASMOL containing 18 occupations, which targeted occupations only where there was 
evidence of unmet demand and a genuine need to attract overseas workers. Applicants 
were also required to have evidence of a full time employment contract in WA for at 
least 12 months. The change to the WASMOL reflected the continued moderation in the 
State’s labour market conditions.

Immediately following the State Election in March 2017 the Department suspended 
processing of applications for regional certification for Perth-based positions under the 
Regional Sponsored Migration Scheme, which assisted employers facing skills shortages 
in Western Australia during the height of the mining boom in 2011. The Prime Minister 
subsequently agreed to the Premier’s request for Perth to be removed from the 
RSMS. Both the changes to the WASMOL and the RSMS were aimed at ensuring that, 
whenever possible, Western Australians are given first preference for WA jobs.

Skilled migrants and their dependants 
continued to be assisted through the 
Department’s Settlement Services. 
Assistance is provided to access 
government services, find employment 
and accommodation and access other 
relevant services. 

The Overseas Qualifications Unit 
provided free comparative assessments 

of overseas qualifications against 
Australian qualification levels. The work 
of the OQU is integrated with other 
Department services, including the 
Career Centre and Migration Services.

No. of assessments: 2 217

No. of clients: 1 978
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The Department focused on refreshing its planning processes to ensure  
they remained current during a changing environment. 

A stronger sector  
through planning

Planning for VET 
The State Training Plan sets out the training needs of the 
State’s various industries and the proposed investment 
in training and skills development to meet those needs. 
The development of the State Training Plan 2017–2020 
was supported by the Department’s broad analysis of 
Western Australia’s economy and labour market, the 
VET policies at State and national level and the detailed 
occupational and qualification analysis used to develop 
the State Priority Occupation List. The State Training Plan 
2017–2020 was submitted to the Minister for Education 
and Training following endorsement by the State 
Training Board.

As Western Australia’s economy grows and diversifies, 
the outlook for jobs is constantly changing. Effective 
planning and prioritising of State Government 
investment enabled the Department to focus on 
providing courses in industry areas of current and future 
high demand. An important part of the  
planning process is maintenance of the priority  
industry qualifications list, showing State Government 
priority qualifications which attract guaranteed 
subsidised training.

The State Training Asset Management Plan provides 
a strategic asset plan for the State’s publicly funded 
training sector including the TAFE colleges. It is primarily 
used to highlight infrastructure priorities related to 
improving the quality and industry relevance of training 
facilities for students and is used to recommend 
new infrastructure funding proposals to the State 
Government which enhance the training capacity of the 
TAFE network. 

The Plan highlights the importance of a statewide critical 
remedial works program that upgrades and redevelops 
outdated campus facilities to ensure they are in good 
condition and match the contemporary training needs of 
students. Work also focuses on increasing the utilisation 
of facilities through better timetabling and ensuring 
ageing facilities are fit for purpose. 

Major construction projects funded* for 2016–17 
included:
• Health and Allied Services Training Centre at 

Pundulmurra Campus – $12.4 million

• Electrical Instrumentation Centre for Specialisation 
at Karratha Campus – $9.5 million

• Interactive Student Hub at Geraldton Campus – 
$2.755 million

• Stage 2 of the Australian Centre for Energy and 
Process Training – $12 million

Performance summary

Stage 2 of the Australian Centre for Energy and Process Training

*The status of these projects reflects progress in relation to the completion and occupation of the building. Projects in the Major Capital 
Projects section (page 122) include all capital works projects that have recorded expenditure against them in the financial year.



 2016–17 Annual Report | 36

AppendicesContents The year in review Significant issues Disclosures and legal complianceThe organisation Achievements 2016–17 

Planning for workforce development
Analysis of trends in the labour market enables 
the Department to guide workforce planning and 
development in Western Australia. In periods of 
economic boom or more subdued activity, the 
Department has been able to respond to critical 
workforce priorities for the State and address future 
trends in the labour market.

Through its workforce planning and development 
framework at a State level, the Department has 
worked with State Government agencies, industry and 
community stakeholders to build Western Australia’s 
workforce. This framework has included five strategic 
goals, 25 areas of strategic focus and 87 priority 
actions. Significant progress has been made in the 
implementation of these strategies and actions.

The Department also undertook workforce planning 
and development at a regional level. Through 
workforce development alliances, regional workforce 
development plans now operate in all nine regions of 
Western Australia. Alliances have representatives from 
local business, industry groups, local governments, the 
not for profit sector, government agencies and the local 
TAFE college. 

Six of the nine regional plans expired during 2016–17 
(Kimberley, Pilbara, Goldfields/Esperance, Wheatbelt, 
Great Southern and South West). All of the priority 

actions contained in these plans were completed, 
embedded in the operations of the lead agency with 
responsibility for that priority action. The Gascoyne, 
Mid West and Peel workforce development plans are 
due to expire in 2018. The Department is developing 
a new regional workforce planning framework for 
implementation in 2017–18.

The Department assisted small to medium businesses 
with their planning by providing free advice and tools 
through the Workplace Essentials for Better Business 
website to attract, develop and retain a skilled workforce. 
As a result of strong promotion in 2016–17, the website 
attracted 64 245 users which was more than double the 
number of users in 2015–16.

Each year the Department produces the State Priority 
Occupation List to inform and guide workforce planning 
and development for Western Australia. The SPOL 
includes those occupations considered a priority in 
Western Australia1 , and is produced in consultation 
with key stakeholders, including the State’s Industry 
Training Council network. 

The SPOL identifies occupations where conditions 
include one or more of the following:
• if the occupation is considered a critical occupation 

where: 
◦ specialised skills are learned in formal education; 

◦ training is needed at the entry level for the 
occupation; or 

◦ the impact of market failure is potentially 
significant, where the occupation does not have a 
constant, reliable pool of skilled workers.

• the occupation is experiencing unmet demand; and

• there are non-market factors that may result in 
an increased skill need for that occupation (for 
example, new licensing or regulations).

1 It should be noted that the SPOL is not designed as a forecasting tool or an exact measure of demand and supply. The methodology behind the SPOL includes a number of considerations  
beyond market driven factors, which ensure it is robust, defendable and fit for the purposes outlined, and therefore preclude its use purely as a ‘skills shortages’ list for Western Australia.

Performance summary
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Collaboration with the State Training Board
General operations of the Office include managing: 
• strategic projects on behalf of the STB;

• establishment and variation of apprenticeship 
processes; 

• appeals against Training Accreditation Council 
decisions; 

• recognition process for industry training councils; and 

• STB communication, website meetings and events.

During 2016–17, with the support of the Department,  
the role of the Office was broadened to include:
• responsibility for developing the State Training Plan;

• increased collaboration between the STB, training 
councils and the Department; and

• a more intensive system of industry advice to  
the Minister. 

The Office also provided strategic and administrative 
support to the STB on a new initiative to investigate 
how current and emerging innovation and technology 
advances were changing the nature of work in some of 
Western Australia’s key industries.

The State Training Board was established by Part 3 of the 
Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 to provide 
high level advice to the Minister on matters relating to 
vocational education and training in Western Australia. 
The Chair and members are appointed directly by the 
Minister. The Industry Training Councils provide market 
intelligence on industry skill needs, undertaking analysis, 
research and consultation in order to provide high level 
advice to the STB. 

During 2016–17, the STB recognised the Public Sector 
Commission and the WA Local Government Association 
as industry training advisory bodies to increase awareness 
and advice on VET from these sectors. The role of the STB 
was also strengthened to ensure continuing collaboration 
between the government and industry. This was as a 
result of the changing labour market and the need for the 
VET sector to respond more directly to industry needs. 

“I want to make sure that they are regularly feeding to me 
the voice of industry.” Minister for Education and Training 
(April 2017)

“The Office plays an important 
role in supporting the work of the 
State Training Board and acting as 
a conduit for interaction with the 
Department. As an independent 
advisory board the STB is supported 
in its work through the policy, 
research and planning functions 
of the Department and in turn the 
STB provides the Department with 
industry intelligence and insights 
to inform the development of 
public policy. The Office is critical to 
ensuring this mutual arrangement 
works effectively.” 

SIMON WALKER | EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Policy, Planning and Innovation  
(April 2017)      

A stronger sector  
through collaboration

The Office of the State Training Board has a strategic position 
within the Department.

Performance summary
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Collaboration with the TAFE colleges and 
private training providers
The Department worked closely with TAFE colleges 
and private training providers to coordinate the State 
Government’s response to training and workforce 
development needs.

More direct industry input enabled the training system 
to meet the challenges of subdued labour market 
conditions in 2016–17.

Leadership
During 2016–17, significant effort 
was invested into consolidating the 
TAFE network from 11 to five  
TAFE colleges. Strong communication 
with TAFE college managing directors 
and governing council members 
helped to implement the new 
structure.

Capacity building
121 professional development 
workshops were conducted and the 
Training Providers Forum attracted 
349 participants in 2017. 

Governance
TAFE Executive and governing council 
appointments, meetings, reporting, 
strategic planning, evaluation, 
quality assurance, risk management; 
and the Governance Accountability 
and Information Network were 
co‑ordinated for more efficiency.

Corporate
Corporate services, regulatory and 
policy functions, standardisation of 
information/technology systems, 
procurement, reporting and 
evaluation, human resources and 
finance processes were progressed.

“Training is critical to increasing job 
opportunities for Western Australians. 
High quality training ensures a skilled and 
confident workforce ready to take on the 
challenges of a changing labour market.” 

RUSSELL BROWN | EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Service Resource Management   

Performance summary
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Collaboration with school sectors
Vocational Education and Training in Schools 
qualifications continued to increase skill levels amongst 
students to enable them to access employment in 
priority industry occupations.

During 2016–17, more intensive collaboration was 
undertaken with the Department of Education to 
address recommendations of the Western Australian 
Auditor General’s Report. 

VET in Schools enables secondary students to 
undertake a nationally recognised VET qualification 
while completing their Western Australian Certificate  
of Education.

In 2016–17, the VET in Schools funding policy was 
amended in conjunction with the Department 
of Education and in response to industry advice. 
Amendments addressed: 

• maximising the number of students with access to 
funded training;

• reducing over-supply of some qualifications; and

• increased delivery for schools not equipped to 
deliver VET courses in their own right.

Quality and relevance of programs were enhanced 
through the VET qualifications register for secondary 
students which provides industry advice on the 
suitability of VET qualifications for delivery to secondary 
students. The register also helps students to choose 
qualifications which are more likely to lead to  
successful completions.

Collaboration with regional stakeholders
The Department collaborated with the Regional 
Workforce Development Alliances in all nine regions of 
Western Australia.

Industry Training Councils continued to be a key source 
of advice on the training and workforce development 
needs of industry in Western Australia. During 2016–17, 
ITCs provided industry intelligence and data on: 

• the development of the State Training Board’s State 
Training Plan and the Department’s State Priority 
Occupations List; 

• the establishment and variation of apprenticeships 
and traineeships; 

• school and industry engagement; 

• the VET in Schools qualifications register; and

• the development and review, endorsement and 
implementation of training packages. 

The role of ITCs as conduits for industry advice was 
reviewed during 2016–17 to ensure more direct advice 
to the Minister for Education and Training.

The top VET in Schools 
industries in 2016 were 
building and construction, 
administrative services, 
and food and beverage 
services. 2 444 VET in Schools 
enrolments were in these 
industries. 

Performance summary
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A stronger sector through  
participation

The Participation Program increased the participation 
of groups experiencing barriers to training or 
employment by providing additional support services to 
help engagement and retention of students in training. 
During 2016, case managers reported that support 
services such as language and literacy, counselling 
and transport improved the chances of participants 
completing a VET qualification and finding employment. 
The program operated with the support of a number of 
government and community organisations, which acted 
as referral agents to promote and support training to 
their clients.

There were 6 510 course enrolments in 2016 in 
comparison with 5 942 recorded in 2015. 

The Read Write Now adult literacy program celebrated 
its 40th anniversary during 2016–17. Funded by the 
Department, the program helps people to improve 
their reading and writing, offering informal tutoring and 
flexible lessons based on students’ needs and interests. 
Since its inception 40 years ago, Read Write Now 
has helped more than 40 000 Western Australians to 
improve their literacy.

Wheatbelt 
7% 

Goldfields-Esperance 
7% 

Great  
SouthernSouth  

West

11%7%
Peel 6%

Perth 5%

Kimberley 
16% 

Pilbara 
5% 

Mid West 
9% 

Gascoyne 
8% 

% of population  
in training

based on the national training agreement 
enrolments for working age population (15‑64 y.o)

NUMBER OF ENROLMENTS
2016

Aboriginal people 1 478

Culturally and  
linguistically diverse

1 123

People with disability 139

Job seekers 2 926

Youth at risk 844

Total 6 510

Performance summary



 2016–17 Annual Report | 41

AppendicesContents The year in review Significant issues Disclosures and legal complianceThe organisation Achievements 2016–17 

In 2016–17, 229 Expanding Career Options for Women 
scholarships of up to $3 000 were awarded to women 
who were planning to take up training in non-traditional 
industries, where women currently make up less than 
25% of the total workforce. Scholarships can help 
with the costs associated with training, including fees, 
resources, accommodation and childcare. Scholarships 
were available in more than 180 qualifications linked to 
non-traditional occupations.

The most popular industry areas where scholarships 
were awarded were construction, engineering and 
automotive, creative and leisure. 

The WA Training Awards recognise Western Australia’s 
outstanding achievements in vocational education 
and training. The program promotes apprenticeships, 
traineeships and the successful career pathways 
provided through VET courses. The Awards recognise 
the achievements of a diverse range of people, 
including those who are generally under-represented 
in the workforce – mature-aged students, people from 
culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds and 
people of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander descent.

In 2016, there were 140 WA Training Award applicants 
across 13 award categories. 

The Australian Training Awards are the peak  
national awards for the VET sector. These Awards are 
the culmination of the state and territory training 
award programs. 

In 2016 there were eight Western Australian individuals 
and organisations selected as finalists for the Australian 
Training Awards presented in Darwin. Fitzroy Crossing 
trainer Tegan Mossop was awarded runner up 
Australian VET Teacher/Trainer of the Year 2016.

During 2016–17, the Department continued to 
promote the skills and talents of Western Australians 
through WorldSkills competitions, showcasing the 
vocational skills of Western Australians including those 
in occupations that are a priority for the State. 

A stronger sector through  
incentives and recognition

WA WorldSkills 
achievements in 
2016–17
Seventy-seven members of 
TeamWA competed at the 
WorldSkills Australia National 
Competition in Melbourne 
yielding a record 8 Gold, 10 
Silver and 9 Bronze medals. 
Four Western Australians were 
selected as members of the Skills 
Squad to train for international 
competitions, representing 
Australia.

Performance summary
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The Department’s recruitment and admission functions 
centralised across the TAFE sector to better manage 
international student recruitment for TAFE colleges 
and promote WA as a destination for international 
education.

During 2016–17:
• International education in WA was promoted to 

a range of countries, including India, Indonesia, 

Mauritius, Kenya, Philippines, Taiwan, China, 
Vietnam, Malaysia, South Korea, Japan, Brazil, 
Indonesia, and across Europe.

• A new website was developed and launched 
specifically for the Chinese market.

• Most popular VET courses were Hospitality; 
Engineering, Business and Management; Community 
Services and Health.

• Full time equivalent enrolments were 4 362 VET,  
664 ELICOS and 828 students in public schools.

• India, Malaysia, Vietnam, South Korea, United 
Kingdom, Kenya and Taiwan provided the highest 
number of VET student enrolments.

• 1 021 offshore and 352 onshore promotional 
activities were conducted including exhibitions, 
agent seminars and agent training visits.

International VET has significant potential to increase the  
Department’s revenue through commercial activities.

A stronger sector through  
international education

"I have received amazing support from my lecturers; they have been extremely current and knowledgeable. 
I also love the opportunity to gain work experience through my course. I am able to develop and expand on 
skills I am learning in class and transfer them into a real world working environment. I love going to class as 
 I have made bonds with other international and Australian students that will be my friends for life."

CHARLOTTE STRIKE | ENGLAND  
Diploma of Event Management, North Metropolitan TAFE  

Performance summary
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"Back home in Sicily I studied marine biology but I always wanted to come to Australia. South 
Metropolitan TAFE is one of the best institutes for aquaculture in the world. There is nothing similar 
back home. I am currently designing a project for a barramundi farm which is really exciting.  
I love this institute; the environment is very stimulating. There is a good balance between practice 
and theory. My class is very multicultural with lots of different backgrounds. My lecturers are very 
passionate and knowledgeable. They succeed every day in transferring their passion and love of 
aquaculture. I feel very lucky to study here."

ROBERTO MAGRO | ITALY  
Diploma of Aquaculture, South Metro TAFE  

Performance summary
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A stronger sector through  
priority training

In compliance with the National Partnership Agreement 
on Skills Reform, the Department introduced an 
entitlement model in 2014. This reform provides a 
guarantee of a training place in State priority courses. 
As part of the reform the Department introduced a  
new fee structure to reflect high priority courses. 
Outcomes in 2016 included:
• broad training increased by 19.7% over the past 

three years;

• higher subsidies and lower fees for State priority 
qualifications;

• 65.4% of training delivery aligned with State priority 
occupations (up from 46% in 2013); and

• growth foundation course enrolments  
(up from 21 223 in 2013, to 27 907 in 2016).

In 2016–17:
The Department continues to provide eligible students:

• a guaranteed training place for enrolments in State 
priority qualifications;

• government subsidised training in over 600 State 
priority qualifications;

• significant subsidies on foundation skills courses;

• access to VET student loans;

• choice of training provider; and

• increased access to priority training.

Policy responses to changing conditions included:
• increasing the concessional fee discount from 50% 

to 70% in eligible courses;

• providing access to concessional fees for eligible 
students in non-VET student loan Diploma and 
Advanced Diploma courses; 

• continuing fee caps for Diploma and Advanced 
Diploma courses; and

• secondary school aged students not enrolled  
at school.

In May 2017, the State Labor Government announced it 
would freeze fees from 2018.

BROAD PRIORITY TRAINING  
INDUSTRIES IN 2016

Industry No: of enrolments

Social assistance services 10 328

Primary metal and metal 
product manufacturing 4 497

Machinery and equipment 
manufacturing 4 355

Construction services 4 155

Professional, scientific and 
technical services* 4 083

Food and beverage services 3 479

Hospitals 2 951

*Except computer system design and related services.

Performance summary
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A stronger sector through  
agricultural education

The Department has repositioned Muresk Institute as 
a significant regional broker of education and training 
services. One of Muresk Institute’s major goals is to 
raise the profile of careers in agriculture and attract 
more young people into the industry. This has been 
achieved with the support of the State Government’s 
Royalties for Regions and the “Transforming agriculture 
and agribusiness skills in WA” campaign; providing the 
resources for a marketing strategy to highlight career 
opportunities in agriculture.

During 2016–17, 53 courses have been offered, 
attracting a total of 2 110 students. This is a substantial 
increase when compared to the 44 students in 2012–13 
when Muresk was returned to the State Government 
from Curtin University.

MoU signed with Curtin and 
Murdoch Universities for a range 

of collaborative activities including 
research and development

Sheep Easy Field Day

Visit by Governor of  
South Sulawesi

Agricultural Machinery  
Field Days

Muresk Lecture with Graham 
Laitt of the Milne Group

Drones versus Dog  
schools challenge

Inaugural graduation from 
Integrated Diploma of Agriculture

Inaugural graduation from 
Bachelor of Agricultural 
Business Management 

Cropping research and 
development Field Days

Murdoch University, Zhejiang 
Provincial and Department of 
Agriculture technical exchange

DAFWA State Soil  
Archive established

Sire Evaluation Program in 
partnership with the WA Stud 
Merino Breeders Dohne sheep 
project with the WA Dohne 
Breeders

Cropping trials and Practice for 
Profit Field Days with Kalyx and 
Curtin University

Events and achievements at Muresk in 2016–17

Performance summary
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The Integrated Diploma of Agriculture in partnership with the  
University of Queensland

The Bachelor of Agricultural Business Management under partnership 
arrangements between Charles Sturt University and Central Regional TAFE

Certificate IV in Veterinary Nursing delivered by Central Regional TAFE

Natural Resource Management Caring for Country Pathway  
with As One Nyitting

Vet in Schools Certificate II Rural Operations, South Regional TAFE

Summer and Winter Agricultural Schools, South Regional TAFE

International student visit with Murdoch University

Annual industry driven short course calendar

WA Police staff professional development training

Dempster Homestead

Residential cottages

Training at Muresk in 2016–17 Building and infrastructure upgrades

Dempster Homestead – Muresk Institute

Performance summary
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A group of Aboriginal students who recently completed 
a Certificate II in Rural Operations at Muresk Institute 
almost immediately found employment. The successful 
students came through the Kadadjin Boodja Bidi  
(Caring for Country) program which is a program 
developed by As One Nyitting and delivered under 
partnership between Muresk and the cultural 
organisation As One Nyitting. The program focused on 
learning through connections with the land and the role 
students will play as the next cultural leaders. They also 
learned about livestock, machinery and conservation 
and land management. 

Muresk Institute General Manager Prue Jenkins said 
she was delighted that Muresk Institute could help 
contribute to the success of the program. 

“The course has been specifically designed so that 
each participant can learn how to care for country, in a 
practical and outdoor learning environment”, she said. 
“The students now get to put their knowledge into 
action by working with Greening Australia on a variety 
of land rehabilitation projects across the Avon Valley 
region. I’m thrilled the program has been successful 
and that students are already finding paid employment 
as a result of the course.”  

The students quickly put their knowledge into action, 
finding paid employment with Greening Australia as a 
result of the course.

Students from the Kadadjin Boodja Bidi program – Muresk Institute

Performance summary
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A stronger sector through innovation 
and accountability

The Department continued to support training and 
workforce development services through enhanced 
Information and Communication Technology Systems. 
Initiatives included the Training Systems for the Future 
Project, a multi-year program delivering contemporary, 
flexible and enterprise-scale systems that support the 
national vocational education and training  
reform agenda. 

During 2016–17, Department and TAFE college 
systems were enhanced to meet new regulatory and 
compliance standards, including:
• changes to align with the new VET FEE-HELP 

regulations; and

• an integrated authentication model across systems 
and services.

As part of training sector reform, significant changes 
were made to Western Australia’s TAFE college system 
which required a consolidated reconfigured ICT system. 
Major projects scheduled for 2017–18 include:
• implementation of a new apprenticeship and 

traineeship management system; and

• continued implementation of a new student 
management system for TAFE colleges for student 
enrolment, class management and resulting.

Historically, the TAFE college network has been 
funded to deliver VET through annual Delivery and 
Performance Agreements with individual colleges.

The operational funding provided to the TAFE college 
network through DPAs for publicly-subsidised training 
remains the single largest expenditure item for the 
Department each year.  

As part of reforms in the training sector, a review of 
the funding model which forms the basis of the DPAs 
commenced in June 2016. The review aims to deliver 
a more effective, efficient and transparent distribution 
of funds that better reflect the costs of quality 
training delivery.

Development of a new 
student management system 
for TAFE colleges for student 
enrolment, class management 
and student results.

Performance summary
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Risk based Contractual Audit and Compliance 
Monitoring for contracted private training providers 
continued in 2016–17. Private training providers in 
receipt of public funding were subject to an audit and 
compliance program that examined their compliance 
with the Conditions of Contract and associated policies 
and business rules for funded training delivery reported 
to the Department. The program is informed by a 
risk assessment used to determine the type of audit 
that a PTP will receive. Risk is assessed on a range 
of factors including contract value, training delivery 
levels and performance, contractual compliance and 
regulator findings.

In line with the State Government’s election 
commitment, the Department commenced the 
introduction of a quality control system for publicly 
funded private registered training organisations.

In 2016–17, the Department conducted: 
• 109 desktop contractual audits; and

• 21 on site contractual audits.

Of the training providers audited:
• 48% were either fully compliant or had minor  

non-compliances;

• 43% had moderate non-compliances; and

• 9% had significant non-compliances.

Evaluation is a key strategy to ensure that 
Department programs continue to maintain quality 
and transparency and meet performance targets. 
Evaluations are conducted in accordance with an 
evaluation framework and post evaluation reporting 
and monitoring ensures that recommendations 
are implemented.

During 2016–17, evaluations were completed or 
progressed on the:
• WA Group Training program;

• Expanding Career Options for Women scholarship 
program; and

• Aboriginal Youth Transitions Program.

During 2016–17, in compliance with the national 
requirement, Western Australian training providers 
were required to have a valid Unique Student  
Identifier for every student undertaking nationally 
recognised vocational education and training courses, 
before issuing them with a qualification or statement  
of attainment. 

The USI enables students to access their VET 
achievements attained from 1 January 2015 online 
through a single transcript document.

Performance summary
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Significant issues  
impacting on the  
agency

I recently completed a Diploma of Nursing at South Metropolitan 
TAFE. I was inspired to study nursing as I want to make a 
difference to people's lives, have a fulfilling career and give back 
to the community. I am passionate about learning and wish to 
further my knowledge and skills in the healthcare sector.

STEPHANIE BURGESS | NURSING STUDENT 

Significant issues
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Implementing VET reforms was a key priority during 
2016–17, requiring significant investment of resources 
in leadership and management and impacting on all 
areas of the Department.

Following the announcement of major VET sector 
reforms, the Department guided the implementation 
of recommendations aimed to achieve a sustainable 
public VET sector with high quality and accessible 
training for all. 

Key achievements in 2016–17 were: 
• consolidation of the TAFE colleges from 11 to 

five colleges;

• appointment of TAFE Managing Directors and 
Governing Council Chairpersons and members;

• marketing of the TAFE WA brand;

• streamlining of Delivery and Performance 
Agreement processes;

• development of key performance indicators for TAFE 
colleges and the TAFE sector;

• increased collaboration in delivering training 
amongst colleges; and

• alignment of college participation in international 
markets and commercial training to State objectives.

Significant issues
Over the last few years Western Australia has been 
experiencing challenging conditions in its domestic 
economy, flowing through to a softening in the State's 
labour market. The unemployment rate has been 
trending higher over the past few years and averaged 
6.2% over 2016–17, which was higher than the national 
annual unemployment rate of 5.7% over the same period.

Overall there was a slight fall in the State’s average 
employment level over 2016–17 compared to the 
previous year. The State's 0.4% contraction in the 
number of jobs was much lower than Western 
Australia’s average historical rate of annual employment 
growth of 2.1% for the past decade. Not only was this 
below historical trends for the State, where growth has 
occurred, it has predominantly been in part time jobs, 
with growth in part time jobs of 11 800 persons more 
than offset by a loss of 17 800 full time positions.

There was a continuing decline in enrolments in publicly 
funded training over the last year. It is acknowledged that 
course fee increases since 2014 have contributed to this 
decline.  The State Government’s election commitment 
to freeze TAFE fees is aimed at addressing this decline by 
ensuring more affordable access to training.

The subdued economy has also had an impact on the 
numbers of apprentices and trainees in training. The 
new government’s Plan for Jobs contains a number 
of commitments to encourage employment growth 
including growth in apprenticeships and traineeships.

The prudent purchasing of publicly-funded training 
and increased accessibility to subsidised priority 
training has helped in some way to reduce the negative 
impact of these trends on the training and workforce 
development sector.

The State election in March 2017 brought in a new 
State Government. The government’s election platform 
centred on a Plan for Jobs, aimed at creating a more 
vibrant and diversified economy with a broader range 
of jobs and industries.

Central to the Plan for Jobs is training and many 
initiatives directly relevant to skilling Western Australia’s  
labour force.

The Department is working closely with other agencies 
tasked with delivering the Plan for Jobs to ensure skilled 
workers are available as projects come to fruition.

The current National Partnership Agreement on Skills 
Reform expired on 30 June 2017, with a final payment 
of $53.8 million for 2016–17 due to Western Australia. 

The Commonwealth Government announced the 
establishment of a permanent Skilling Australians 
Fund in the Federal Budget 2017–18, to underpin a 
new ongoing National Partnership. It is anticipcated 
the Fund will provide $1.5 billion over four years from 
2017–18 with Western Australians eligible for up to 
$160 million.

Significant issues
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Disclosures and 
legal compliance

The traineeship I completed gave me a Certificate II in 
Government and has been the ideal start to setup a career 
and lifestyle that I am passionate and excited about. It has 
given me the opportunity to work in multiple areas across  
the Department including Apprenticeship Office and ICT.

THOMAS CHRISTIDES | SERVICE DESK ANALYST

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Certification of Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Financial  
Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Training and Workforce Development have been prepared in compliance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position as at 30 June 2017.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements  
misleading or inaccurate.

ANNE DRISCOLL 
A/Director General

5 September 2017

SATVINDER SEKHON 
Chief Financial Officer

5 September 2017

Disclosures and legal compliance
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017 
$000

2016 
$000

COST OF SERVICES Note

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 52 768 52 515
Supplies and services 8 23 033 25 507
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 2 382 2 119
Accommodation expenses 5 614 5 133
Grants and subsidies 10 458 985 512 674
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 16 220 -
Loss arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories 15 -
Other expenses 11 8 260 11 856

Total cost of services 551 277 609 804

Income

Revenue
User charges and fees 13 40 158 44 618
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 213 567 198 824
Interest revenue 1 236 1 604
Other revenue 15 6 686 8 449

Total revenue 261 647 253 495

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 16 - 1 785
Gain arising from changes in fair value – land 459 -
Gain arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - 9
Gain arising from changes in fair value – livestock 143 185

Total gains 602 1 979

Total income other than from State Government 262 249 255 474

NET COST OF SERVICES 289 028 354 330

Income from State Government 17
Services appropriation 353 472 366 368

Services received free of charge 496 1 092

Royalties for Regions Fund 3 947 8 182

Total income from State Government 357 915 375 642

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 68 887 21 312

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 31 4 672 (783)

Total other comprehensive income 4 672 (783)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 73 559 20 529

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2017 2017 
$000

2016 
$000

ASSETS Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 32 107 694 59 324
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18, 32 53 989 64 733
Inventories 19 6 21
Receivables 20 9 480 6 082
Other current assets 21 2 464 3 262

Total current assets 173 633 133 422

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18, 32 200 -
Biological assets 22 330 284
Amounts receivable for services 23 38 874 37 017
Property, plant and equipment 24 89 277 75 526
Intangible assets 26 11 994 4 911

Total non-current assets 140 675 117 738

TOTAL ASSETS 314 308 251 160

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables 28 13 693 8 135
Provisions 29 10 399 9 931
Other current liabilities 30 17 618 20 441

Total current liabilities 41 710 38 507

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 29 2 923 2 986

Total non-current liabilities 2 923 2 986

TOTAL LIABILITIES 44 633 41 493

NET ASSETS 269 675 209 667

EQUITY 31

Contributed equity 75 240 88 791

Asset revaluation reserve 4 873 201

Accumulated surplus 189 562 120 675

TOTAL EQUITY 269 675 209 667

See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2017 Contributed
Equity 

$000

Reserves 
 

$000

Accumulated
Surplus 

$000

Total
Equity 

$000

Note

Balance at 1 July 2015 31 94 224 984 99 363 194 571

Surplus - - 21 312 21 312
Other comprehensive income - (783) - (783)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (783) 21 312 20 529

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriation 8 279 - - 8 279
Royalties for Regions capital funding 19 675 - - 19 675
Contribution of capital from TAFE colleges 2 215 - - 2 215
Contribution of capital from other sources 388 - - 388
Other contribution by owners 1 052 - - 1 052
Distribution to owners (37 042) - - (37 042)

Total (5 433) - - (5 433)
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016 88 791 201 120 675 209 667

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2016 88 791 201 120 675 209 667

Surplus - - 68 887 68 887
Other comprehensive income - 4 672 - 4 672

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD - 4 672 68 887 73 559

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriation 12 216 - - 12 216
Royalties for Regions capital funding 7 263 - - 7 263
Contribution of capital from TAFE colleges 7 397 - - 7 397
Contribution of capital from other sources 137 - - 137
Other contribution by owners 160 - - 160
Distribution to owners (40 724) - - (40 724)

Total (13 551) - - (13 551)
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017 75 240 4 873 189 562 269 675

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



 2016–17 Annual Report | 61

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017 
$000

2016 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT Note

Service appropriation 351 615 365 161
Capital appropriation 12 216 8 279
Royalties for Regions Fund 11 210 27 857
Contribution of capital funding from other sources 2 579 2 603
Non-retained revenue distributed to owner - (1 290)

Net cash provided by State Government 377 620 402 610

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (51 670) (56 024)
Supplies and services and other expenses (33 952) (38 832)
Grants and subsidies (459 613) (515 493)
GST payments on purchases (19 561) (18 738)

Receipts
User charges and fees 38 096 43 948
Commonwealth grants and contributions 213 867 200 876
Interest received 1 384 1 568
GST receipts on sales 760 876
GST receipts from taxation authority 17 520 17 133
Other receipts 7 362 8 061

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (285 807) (356 625)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current assets (54 059) (38 017)

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 72 1 308

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 32 (53 987) (36 709)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 37 826 9 276

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 124 057 114 781

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 32 161 883 124 057

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



 2016–17 Annual Report | 62

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSE BY SERVICE Workforce Planning and
Development

Development of Vocational
Education and Training

Policy and Programs

Career and Workforce
Development Services

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 3 773 3 653 5 138 4 947 4 319 4 447
Supplies and services 881 761 787 924 654 1 180
Depreciation and amortisation expense 115 88 138 112 116 104
Accommodation expenses 406 393 488 495 410 461
Grants and subsidies 3 783 5 616 47 - 6 900 6 649
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 1 - 1 - 1 -
Loss arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - - - - - -
Other expenses 67 266 112 372 72 316

Total cost of services 9 026 10 777 6 711 6 850 12 472 13 157

Income
User charges and fees - - - - - -
Commonwealth grants and contributions - - - - - -
Interest revenue - - - - - -
Other revenue 92 45 110 58 92 54
Gain on disposal of non-current assets - - - - - -
Gain arising from changes in fair value – land 37 - 45 - 38 -
Gain arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - - - - - -
Gain arising from changes in fair value – livestock - 13 - 16 - 15

Total income other than income from State Government 129 58 155 74 130 69

NET COST OF SERVICES 8 897 10 719 6 556 6 776 12 342 13 088

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 10 881 11 083 8 018 7 006 15 094 13 533
Services received free of charge 15 33 11 21 21 40
Royalties for Regions Fund - - - - 197 288

Total income from State Government 10 896 11 116 8 029 7 027 15 312 13 861

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 1 999 397 1 473 251 2 970 773
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SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSE BY SERVICE Skilled Migration,
including Overseas

Qualification Assessment

Apprenticeship and
Traineeship Administration

and Regulation

Procurement of Training

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 1 302 1 195 6 392 6 108 7 315 7 164
Supplies and services 203 250 1 318 1 277 3 337 3 118
Depreciation and amortisation expense 39 33 210 162 580 482
Accommodation expenses 137 146 744 722 756 745
Grants and subsidies 13 - 72 321 410 150 463 888
Loss on disposal of non-current assets - - 2 - 209 -
Loss arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - - - - 15 -
Other expenses 23 102 127 501 6 291 8 385

Total cost of services 1 717 1 726 8 865 9 091 428 653 483 782

Income
User charges and fees 475 558 - - 52 4
Commonwealth grants and contributions - - - - 213 567 198 824
Interest revenue - - - - 83 57
Other revenue 31 17 168 104 1 858 2 751
Gain on disposal of non-current assets - - - - - -
Gain arising from changes in fair value – land 13 - 69 - 70 -
Gain arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - - - - - -

Gain arising from changes in fair value – livestock - 5 - 23 143 41

Total income other than income from State Government 519 580 237 127 215 773 201 677

NET COST OF SERVICES 1 198 1 146 8 628 8 964 212 880 282 105
Income from State Government

Service appropriation 1 465 1 185 10 552 9 269 260 345 291 689
Services received free of charge 2 4 15 28 365 869
Royalties for Regions Fund - - - - 3 750 7 894

Total income from State Government 1 467 1 189 10 567 9 297 264 460 300 452

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 269 43 1 939 333 51 580 18 347
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The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSE BY SERVICE Recruitment and
Management of

International Students

Infrastructure 
Management for

TAFE Colleges

Support Services
to TAFE Colleges

Total

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 4 258 3 969 1 536 1 515 18 735 19 517 52 768 52 515
Supplies and services 4 656 6 176 619 503 10 578 11 318 23 033 25 507
Depreciation and amortisation expense 83 76 46 34 1 055 1 028 2 382 2 119
Accommodation expenses 651 355 164 150 1 858 1 666 5 614 5 133
Grants and subsidies 31 523 35 432 6 317 668 180 100 458 985 512 674
Loss on disposal of non-current assets - - - - 6 - 220 -
Loss arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - - - - - - 15 -
Other expenses 88 191 358 80 1 122 1 643 8 260 11 856

Total cost of services 41 259 46 199 9 040 2 950 33 534 35 272 551 277 609 804

Income
User charges and fees 39 631 44 023 - - - 33 40 158 44 618
Commonwealth grants and contributions - - - - - - 213 567 198 824
Interest revenue 1 153 1 547 - - - - 1 236 1 604
Other revenue 160 405 37 168 4 138 4 847 6 686 8 449
Gain on disposal of non-current assets - - 1 785 - - 1 785
Gain arising from changes in fair value – land - - 16 - 171 - 459 -
Gain arising from changes in net realisable value – inventories - - - 9 - - - 9 
Gain arising from changes in fair value – livestock - - - 17 - 55 143 185

Total income other than income from State Government 40 944 45 975 53 1 979 4 309 4 935 262 249 255 474

NET COST OF SERVICES 315 224 8 987 971 29 225 30 337 289 028 354 330

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 385 232 10 991 1 004 35 741 31 367 353 472 366 368
Services received free of charge 1 1 15 3 51 93 496 1 092
Royalties for Regions Fund - - - - - - 3 947 8 182

Total income from State Government 386 233 11 006 1 007 35 792 31 460 357 915 375 642

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 71 9 2 019 36 6 567 1 123 68 887 21 312
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SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES BY SERVICE

Workforce Planning
and Development

Development of
Vocational Education

and Training Policy and
Programs

Career and Workforce
Development Services

Skilled Migration,
including Overseas

Qualification
Assessment

Apprenticeship
and Traineeship
Administration
and Regulation

As at 30 June 2017 2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

Assets
Current assets 2 843 2 358 2 113 1 499 3 928 2 879 541 378 2 792 1 989
Non-current assets 2 303 2 081 1 713 1 323 3 183 2 540 438 333 2 262 1 755

TOTAL ASSETS 5 146 4 439 3 826 2 822 7 111 5 419 979 711 5 054 3 744

Liabilities

Current liabilities 683 681 508 433 944 831 130 109 671 574
Non-current liabilities 48 53 36 34 66 64 9 8 47 45

TOTAL LIABILITIES 731 734 544 467 1 010 895 139 117 718 619

NET ASSETS 4 415 3 705 3 282 2 355 6 101 4 524 840 594 4 336 3 125

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND  
LIABILITIES BY SERVICE

Procurement of 
Training

Recruitment and 
Management of 

International Students

Infrastructure 
Management for

TAFE Colleges

Support Services to 
TAFE Colleges

Total

As at 30 June 2017 2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

Assets
Current assets 135 011 105 849 12 995 10 108 2 847 645 10 563 7 717 173 633 133 422
Non-current assets 109 384 93 406 10 528 8 920 2 307 570 8 557 6 810 140 675 117 738

TOTAL ASSETS 244 395 199 255 23 523 19 028 5 154 1 215 19 120 14 527 314 308 251 160

Liabilities
Current liabilities 32 432 30 549 3 122 2 917 684 186 2 536 2 227 41 710 38 507
Non-current liabilities 2 273 2 369 219 226 48 14 177 173 2 923 2 986

TOTAL LIABILITIES 34 705 32 918 3 341 3 143 732 200 2 713 2 400 44 633 41 493

NET ASSETS 209 690 166 337 20 182 15 885 4 422 1 015 16 407 12 127 269 675 209 667

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017
Estimate

$000

2017
Actual

$000

Variance

$000

2017
Actual

$000

2016
Actual

$000

Variance

$000

Delivery of services

Item 14 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 350 482 350 482 - 350 482 363 378 (12 896)
Amount authorised by other statutes
– Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 2 990 2 990 - 2 990 2 990 -

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 353 472 353 472 - 353 472 366 368 (12 896)

Capital
Item 127 Capital appropriations 12 216 12 216 - 12 216 8 279 3 937

Total capital 12 216 12 216 - 12 216 8 279 3 937

GRAND TOTAL 365 688 365 688 - 365 688 374 647 (8 959)

Details of expenses by service
Workforce planning and development 12 357 9 026 (3 331) 9 026 10 777 (1 751)
Development of vocational education and training policy and programs 8 370 6 711 (1 659) 6 711 6 850 (139)
Career and workforce development services 14 459 12 472 (1 987) 12 472 13 157 (685)
Skilled migration, including overseas qualification assessment 2 062 1 717 (345) 1 717 1 726 (9)
Apprenticeship and traineeship administration and regulation 10 180 8 865 (1 315) 8 865 9 091 (226)
Procurement of training 476 863 428 653 (48 210) 428 653 483 782 (55 129)
Recruitment and management of international students 48 493 41 259 (7 234) 41 259 46 199 (4 940)
Infrastructure management for TAFE colleges 4 251 9 040 4 789 9 040 2 950 6 090
Support services to TAFE colleges 34 333 33 534 (799) 33 534 35 272 (1 738)
Total cost of services 611 368 551 277 (60 091) 551 277 609 804 (58 527)
Less Total income 273 155 262 249 (10 906) 262 249 255 474 6 775
Net cost of services 338 213 289 028 (49 185) 289 028 354 330 (65 302)
Adjustments 15 259 64 444 49 185 64 444 12 038 52 406

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 353 472 353 472 - 353 472 366 368 (12 896)
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES

For the year ended 30 June 2017 2017
Estimate

$000

2017
Actual

$000

Variance

$000

2017
Actual

$000

2016
Actual

$000

Variance

$000

Capital expenditure

Purchase of non-current assets 59 489 54 059 (5 430) 54 059 38 017 16 042

Capital appropriations 59 489 54 059 (5 430) 54 059 38 017 16 042

Details of Income Estimates

Income disclosed as Administered Income 5 360 4 286 (1 074) 4 286 5 979 (1 693)

5 360 4 286 (1 074) 4 286 5 979 (1 693)

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 37 'Explanatory statement' and Note 44 'Explanatory Statement for Administered Items' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 
2017 and between the actual results for 2017 and 2016.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of Standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 30 
June 2017.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with the 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of 
the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation 
of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for 
land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the 
process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Training and Workforce Development which includes Muresk Institute.

Mission

The Department of Training and Workforce Development's mission is to work to build the Western Australian workforce to meet 
the State's economic and community needs.

The Department of Training and Workforce Development is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations 
supplemented by funding received from the Australian Government.
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Services

The Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Workforce Planning and Development
The Department works closely with industry, the community and across government in gathering and analysing workforce data 
and intelligence to identify the State's workforce development and training priorities.

Service 2: Development of Vocational Education and Training Policy and Programs
The Department develops policies and programs that promote the effective and efficient operation of the State's VET system. Policy 
and program development is aligned to the Department's strategic direction for workforce development and training including 
higher education and the school sector.

Service 3: Career and Workforce Development Services
Career and workforce development services provide education and training information, and career guidance to the Western 
Australian community, as well as employment, training and mentoring services to Aboriginal people and communities.

Service 4: Skilled Migration, including Overseas Qualification Assessment
Skilled migration, including overseas qualification assessment, assesses applications from intending skilled migrants who wish to 
migrate to Western Australia, and assesses post-secondary qualifications gained overseas for Western Australian residents. The 
service aims to facilitate skilled migration to Western Australia to supplement the local workforce and enable overseas trained 
residents to access education, training and employment through recognition of overseas qualifications.

Service 5: Apprenticeships and Traineeship Administration and Regulation
Apprenticeship and traineeship administration and regulation includes registration of training contracts and administration or 
contract variations, educating participants on training contract and legislation requirements, dispute resolution and monitoring of 
legislative compliance.

Service 6: Procurement of Training
Procurement of training comprises the purchasing of training delivery services from TAFE colleges and private training providers in 
accordance with the State's priorities and the State Training Plan. The service is differentiated according to the major Future Skills 
WA funding categories.

Service 7: Recruitment and Management of International Students
Recruitment and management of international students involves the marketing of Western Australian TAFE colleges and public 
schools off shore and on shore, and the management of admissions, compliance and welfare of international students according 
to relevant legislation.

Service 8: Infrastructure Management for TAFE Colleges
Infrastructure management for TAFE colleges includes the maintenance, administration and strategic development of land and 
buildings used to deliver publicly funded training in campuses across the State.

Service 9: Support Services to TAFE Colleges
Support services to TAFE colleges include the supply, management and maintenance of information communication technology, 
finance and human resource services.

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly‑Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of 
equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government 
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made 
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows:
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Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

User charges and fees
Revenue is recognised when fees and charges are due.

Administered items
Administered item revenue from Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder (Subclass 457) Child School Fee is recognised when cash 
is received.

Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Net appropriation determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the 
Department. In accordance with the most recent determination, as quantified in the 2016–17 Budget Statements, the Department 
retained $291 million in 2017 ($275 million in 2016) from the following:
• proceeds from fees and charges;
• sale of goods;
• Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and
• other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non‑reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually 
when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains control over 
the funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account.

Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets 
and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5 000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5 000 are immediately expensed 
direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant 
in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and 
historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
(buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, 
the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally 
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement 
cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and 
the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset. Fair value 
for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted 
use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) 
and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets 
and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgment by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide 
a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is 
retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets on a class of 
assets basis.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that 
reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each 
class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 years
Plant and equipment 5 – 10 years
Office equipment 5 – 10 years
Communication equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 – 5 years
Furniture and fittings 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements 7 years

Land is not depreciated.

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have long 
and indeterminate useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period 
and consequently no depreciation has been recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the valuation model is used 
for the measurement of works of art. The Department has a policy of revaluing artworks at fair value and is carried out every 3-5 
years. The revaluation of the Department's art works was last undertaken in 2013 by an independent valuer – Japingka Indigenous 
Fine Art Gallery.
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(g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5 000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $1 000 000 or more are 
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are 
immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible assets are:
Computer software(a) 3 – 5 years
Computer licences 7 – 10 years
Internally developed software 3 – 5 years
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Amortisation is calculated for the 
period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the 
future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $1 000 000. Other 
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an 
integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5 000 is expensed in the year 
of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a 
website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a 
website that can be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits.

(h) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less 
than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss 
is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit 
or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement 
in other comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a 
surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually 
to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end 
of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment
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where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated 
replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are 
tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not 
depreciated or amortised.

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the Government. The Department of Lands is the only agency with the 
power to sell Crown land. The Department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to DoL when the land becomes 
available for sale.

(j) Leases

Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal 
in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the 
inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period 
during which the Department is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office buildings and motor vehicles. Operating 
leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
properties.

(k) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instruments:
• Receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
• Financial assets

 � Cash and cash equivalents
 � Restricted cash and cash equivalents
 � Receivables
 � Amounts receivable for services

• Financial liabilities
 � Payables
 � Other liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the 
face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries (see note 28 'Payables') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued 
salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 18 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually, 
from Departmental appropriations for salaries expense, into a suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee 
salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.



 2016–17 Annual Report | 75

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding 
account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover 
leave entitlements and asset replacement.

(o) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate for 
each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out basis.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are measured at net 
realisable value.

(p) Biological assets

Biological assets comprising of livestock are valued at fair value less estimated point of sale costs and costs necessary to get them 
to market. A gain or loss on valuation is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. See note 22 ‘Biological assets’.

(q) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against 
the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that 
the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days.

(r) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amount payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(s) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Provisions – employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered 
to be ‘other long term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional 
long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred Leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 
12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used 
in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as 
employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased Leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an 
additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured 
at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 
schemes for public sector employee vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or 
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS 
became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on 
or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS 
or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Department makes 
contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Department's 
liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined 
contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to 
GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the 
unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. 
All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share.

Provisions – other

Employment on‑costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of 
‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 
'Employment on-costs provision'.

(t) Superannuation expense

Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises of employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(u) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, are 
recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is 
recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
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Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(v) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current reporting 
period.

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies 
that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Department evaluates these judgements 
regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of these leases relate 
to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

Long service leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision include expected future 
salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions 
may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted, for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Department.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards

 This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where 
they are the same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2014–4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

 The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as depreciation and amortisation 
is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic 
benefits.

AASB 2015–2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 
101, 134 & 1049]

 This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. 
Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed 
about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement 
when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is 
no financial impact.

AASB 2015–6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not‑for‑Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

 The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector 
entities. There is no financial impact.
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AASB 2015–10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

 This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & AASB 128 
that were originally made in AASB 2014–10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. There is no financial 
impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, 
the Department has early adopted AASB 2015–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of 
Not‑for‑Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards 
from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 
after being amended by AASB 2012–6, AASB 2013–9 and AASB 2014–1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to 
report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a 
contract with a customer.

The Department's income is principally derived from appropriations which will 
be measured under AASB 1058 Income of Not for Profit Entities and will be 
unaffected by this change. However, the Department has not yet determined 
the potential impact of the Standard on ‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ 
revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions 
attached to these revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Department 
has discharged its performance obligations.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 16 Leases

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a 
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity currently 
has operating lease commitments for $81 332 000. The Department anticipates 
most of this amount will be brought onto the statement of financial position, 
excepting amounts pertinent to short term or low value leases. Interest and 
amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease.

1 Jan 2019
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 1058 Income of Not‑for‑Profit Entities

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements 
that apply to not for profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic 
reality of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing 
of income recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise 
to a liability, a performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), 
or, an obligation to acquire an asset. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 2010–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 
2012–6 and AASB 2014–1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential 
amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the 
Department to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended 
by AASB 2015–8 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014–10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB–10 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency 
between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The mandatory effective date (application date) 
for the Standard has been deferred to 1 Jan 2018 by AASB 2015–10. The 
Department has determined that the Standard has no financial impact.

1 Jan 2018
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2015–8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required 
to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2017. For not-for-profit entities, the mandatory effective 
date has subsequently been amended to 1 January 2019 by AASB 2016–7. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 2016–2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) 
to require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016–3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus 
agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, 
and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016–4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of 
Non‑Cash‑Generating Specialised Assets of Not‑for‑Profit Entities

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily 
non-cash-generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically 
specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is 
expected to be materially the same as fair value determined under AASB 13 
Fair Value Measurement. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not 
for Profit Entities

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
AASB 15 and defers the consequential amendments that were originally set 
out in AASB 2014–5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 15 for not for profit entities to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 1 January 2018. There is no financial 
impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016–8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not for Profit Entities

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. 
This guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying those Standards to 
particular transactions and other events. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2019
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2017–2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual 
Improvements 2014–2016 cycle

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the disclosure 
requirements apply to an entity’s interests in other entities that are classified 
as held for sale, held for distribution to owners in their capacity as owners 
or discontinued operations in accordance with AASB 5. There is no financial 
impact.

1 Jan 2017

Changes in accounting estimates

There have been no changes in accounting estimates in the 2016–17 Financial Statements.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 6. Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries(a) 47 955 46 936
Voluntary severance scheme payment - 916
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(b) 4 813 4 663

52 768 52 515

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans includes West State, Gold State and GESB and other eligible funds. 
Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 11 'Other expenses'. 
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 29 'Provisions'.

Note 7. Compensation of Key Management Personnel

The Department has determined that key management personnel include the responsible Minister and senior officers of the 
Department. However, the Department is not obligated to compensate the responsible Minister and therefore disclosures in 
relation to their compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation for senior officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands:

Compensation Band ($) 2017 2016
390 001 – 400 000 - 1
360 001 – 370 000 1 -
230 001 – 240 000 1 -
210 001 – 220 000 1 3
200 001 – 210 000 1 -
190 001 – 200 000 1 1
110 001 – 120 000 1 -

$000 $000
Short-term employee benefits 1 045 1 025
Post-employment benefits 94 91
Other long-term benefits 193 122
Total compensation of key management personnel 1 332 1 238

Note 8. Supplies and services

Commissions 2 090 3 483
Communications 3 704 3 898
Consultants and contractors 9 570 10 734
Electricity and water expenses 732 764
Minor equipment purchases 3 118 1 975
Operating leases 698 837
Other staffing costs 300 275
Other 1 972 2 074
Services received free of charge from other government agencies 496 1 092
Travel 353 375

23 033 25 507
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 9. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Buildings 842 756
Leasehold improvements 76 68
Plant and equipment 103 88
Motor vehicles 32 32
Computers 746 915
Office equipment 53 61
Furniture and fittings 3 3

Total depreciation 1 855 1 923

Amortisation
Computer software 527 196

Total amortisation 527 196
Total depreciation and amortisation 2 382 2 119

Note 10. Grants and subsidies

This expenditure item reflects grants, subsidies and contract service payments for the delivery of training and employment 
initiatives made by the Department to private training providers and the autonomous TAFE colleges.

Contracts and agreements for the delivery of training and employment services by:
TAFE colleges and Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts 341 098 374 738
Private training providers 90 385 108 058
Other training providers 25 355 27 817

Other grants 2 147 2 061
458 985 512 674

Note 11. Other expenses

Repairs, maintenance and minor works 967 779
Employment on-costs 185 140
Voluntary severance scheme payment to TAFE colleges - 7 384
Impairment loss on land - 459
Doubtful debts expense 83 716
VET FEE HELP Assistance scheme 4 532 1 445
Prior period work-in-progress expenditure - 594
Repayment of Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 appropriation 1 182 -
Computing equipment purchases for TAFE colleges 997 -
Other 314 339

8 260 11 856
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 12. Related party transactions
The Department is a wholly-owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the 
Department is required to pay various taxes and levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy 
payers to the State and entities related to State.

Related parties of the department include:
• all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• all departments and public sector entities, including their related bodies included in the whole of government 

consolidated financial statements;
• associates and joint ventures or an entity that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements; 

and

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Significant transactions with government related entities
Significant transactions include:
• service appropriation (Note 17);
• capital appropriation (Note 31);
• services received free of charge from the Department of Education, Department of Finance, Landgate and State Solicitor's 

Office (Note 17);
• Royalties for Regions fund (Note 17);
• lease rental payments to the Department of Finance (Refer to Accommodation Expenses);
• insurance payments to the Insurance Commission and Riskcover fund;
• grants provided to TAFE colleges (Note 10); and 
• remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (Note 39).

Material transactions with related parties
• superannuation payments to GESB (Note 6).
The Department had no other material related party transaction with Ministers/senior officers or their close family members 
or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities for disclosure.

Note 13. User charges and fees

Overseas student course fees (a) 39 138 43 739
Other fees and charges 1 020 879

40 158 44 618
(a) TAFE International Western Australia

Note 14. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Commonwealth grants 213 567 198 824
213 567 198 824

Undischarged grants
The Department receives certain Commonwealth grants on the condition that the monies shall be expended in a particular 
manner. Grants of this nature which are yet to be fully spent as at the balance sheet date do not constitute a liability and are 
detailed below:
COAG National Partnership Program 404 1 241
Commonwealth Own-Purpose Expenditure (COPE) 300 318
Special Projects – Other 185 193

889 1 752
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 15. Other revenue

Commissions 132 319
Other miscellaneous revenue 151 271
Recoveries and refunds 352 1 085
Rental premises 509 754
Sale of goods and services 1 362 1 990
Service revenue 4 180 4 030

6 686 8 449

Note 16. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Land - 1 805
Buildings - -
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles 72 18
Computer equipment - -
Office equipment - -

72 1 823
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed
Land - -
Buildings 242 -
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles 39 10
Computer equipment - 19
Office equipment 11 9

292 38
Net gain/(loss) (220) 1 785

Note 17. Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a) 353 472 366 368

353 472 366 368
Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during the period:

Department of Finance 359 891
State Solicitor's Office 130 114
Department of Education 4 83
Landgate 3 4

496 1 092
Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (b) 3 457 7 853
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account (b) 490 329

3 947 8 182
357 915 375 642

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and 
a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b)  This is a sub-fund within the over-arching 'Royalties for Regions Fund'. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and 
programs in WA regional areas.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 18. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Unexpended Commonwealth grants (a) (see note 14 ) 889 1 752
Training interest bearing account (b) 47 656 55 271
Muresk interest bearing account 5 140 3 315
Royalties for Regions Fund (c) 304 4 395

53 989 64 733
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (d) 200 -

200 -

(a)  The amounts relate to unexpended Commonwealth grants which stipulate that the monies shall be expended in a 
particular manner.

(b)  The amounts held in the Training interest bearing account is only to be used for the purposes as determined by the 
Vocation and Education Training Act 1996.

(c)  Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(d)  Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting period that occurs every 
11th year.

Note 19. Inventories

Current
Inventories not held for resale 6 21

6 21

Note 20. Receivables

Current
Receivables 6 894 2 887
Allowance for impairment of receivables (295) (805)
Accrued revenue 287 1 352
GST receivable 2 594 2 648
Total current 9 480 6 082

Reconciliation of changes in the allowances for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period 805 259
Doubtful debts expense 83 716
Amounts written off during the period (567) (137)
Impairment losses reversed during the period (26) (33)
Balance at end of the year 295 805

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

Note 21. Other assets

Current
Prepayments 2 464 3 262

2 464 3 262

Note 22. Biological assets

Non-current
Livestock 330 284

330 284
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 23. Amounts receivable for services (Holding account)

Non-current
Amounts receivable for services 38 874 37 017

38 874 37 017

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement 
or payment of leave liability.

Note 24. Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value (a) 12 160 11 701

12 160 11 701
Buildings
At fair value (a) 38 743 26 257

38 743 26 257
Leasehold improvements
At cost 534 476
Accumulated amortisation (149) (74)

385 402
Plant and equipment
At cost 637 590
Accumulated depreciation (187) (245)

450 345
Motor vehicles
At cost 159 159
Accumulated depreciation (96) (65)

63 94
Computers
At cost 3 345 3 337
Accumulated depreciation (3 255) (2 507)

90 830
Office equipment
At cost 354 569
Accumulated depreciation (225) (447)

129 122
Artwork
At fair value 111 111

111 111
Furniture and fittings
At cost 33 33
Accumulated depreciation (14) (11)

19 22
Capital works in progress
At cost 37 127 35 642

37 127 35 642

Total property, plant and equipment 89 277 75 526

(a)  Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2016 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2017 and recognised at 30 June 2017. 
In undertaking the valuation, fair value was determined by reference to current use for land: $12 160 000 
(2016: $11 701 000) and depreciation replacement cost for buildings: $38 743 450 (2016: $26 257 410). 
Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 25.
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RECONCILIATIONS OF THE CARRYING AMOUNT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES AT THE BEGINNING AND  
END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD ARE SET OUT IN THE TABLE BELOW.

Land Buildings Leasehold
improve-

ments

Plant &
equip-

ment

Motor
vehicles

Computers Office
equip-

ment

Artwork Furniture
& fittings

Capital
works in
progress

Total

2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of period 11 701 26 257 402 345 94 830 122 111 22 35 642 75 526
Additions - - - 263 - 8 54 - - 46 624 46 949
Disposals - (242) - (39) - - (11) - - - (292)
Transfers to/from work in progress - 8 897 58 - - - - - - (8 955) -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 459 4 672 - - - - - - - - 5 131
Depreciation - (842) (75) (103) (31) (748) (53) - (3) - (1 855)
Transfers/Adjustments (a) - 1 - (16) - - 17 - - (36 184) (36 182)
Carrying amount at end of period 12 160 38 743 385 450 63 90 129 111 19 37 127 89 277

Land Buildings Leasehold
Improve-

ments

Plant & 
equip-

ment

Motor 
vehicle

Computers Office 
equip-

ment

Artwork Furniture
& fittings

Capital 
works in 
progress

Total

2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of period 12 160 27 423 470 218 126 1 812 119 111 26 34 851 77 316
Additions - - - 203 - - 25 - - 35 285 35 513
Disposals - - - (10) - (19) (9) - - - (38)
Transfers to/from work in progress - 373 - - - - - - - (429) (56)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (459) (783) - - - - - - - - (1 242)
Depreciation - (756) (68) (88) (32) (924) (52) - (3) - (1 923)
Transfers/Adjustments (a) - - - 22 - (39) 39 - (1) (34 065) (34 044)
Carrying amount at end of period 11 701 26 257 402 345 94 830 122 111 22 35 642 75 526

(a)  The Department carries out capital works projects on behalf of the TAFE colleges. Upon completion of construction, these assets are transferred out to TAFE colleges as 
distribution to owners. 
 
Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 25. 
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Note 25. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value at 
end of period

2017 $000 $000 $000 $000
Biological assets (Note 22) 330 - - 330
Land (Note 24) - - 12 160 12 160
Buildings (Note 24) - - 38 743 38 743

330 - 50 903 51 233

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value at 
end of period

2016 $000 $000 $000 $000

Biological assets (Note 22) 284 - - 284
Land (Note 24) - - 11 701 11 701
Buildings (Note 24) - - 26 257 26 257

284 - 37 958 38 242
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods.

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2017 Land Buildings

$000 $000

Fair value at start of period 11 701 26 257

Transfers from works in progress - 8 897

Disposals - (242)

Revaluation increments / (decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss 459 -

Revaluation increments / (decrements) recognised in Other comprehensive income - 4 672

Depreciation expense - (842)

Adjustment - 1

Fair value at end of period 12 160 38 743

2016 Land Buildings
$000 $000

Fair value at start of period 12 160 27 423
Transfers from works in progress - 373
Revaluation increments / (decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss (459) -
Revaluation increments / (decrements) recognised in Other comprehensive income - (783)
Depreciation expense - (756)
Fair value at end of period 11 701 26 257

Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the 
transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's instructions 
require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs 
on a recurring basis.
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Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use 
land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value 
measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated 
fair values of land.

Buildings (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current 
replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed 
or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is 
generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the 
gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciated replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of 
asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement 
is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower estimated fair 
values of buildings and infrastructure.

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Department are derived and evaluated as follows:

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m2)
The costs of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility are extracted from financial records of the Department, then 
indexed by movements in CPI.

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility. Relevant 
comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Basis of valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are valued 
at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations 
have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are 
imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description Fair value
2017
$000

Fair value
2016
$000

Valuation Technique (s) Unobservable inputs

Land 12 160 11 701 Current Use Selection of land with 
similar approximate utility

Buildings 38 743 26 257 Depreciated 
Replacement Cost

Consumed economic 
benefit/obsolescence 

of asset

Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2)

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Note 24.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 26. Intangible assets
Computer software
At cost 2 573 2 573
Accumulated amortisation (727) (200)

1 846 2 373
Work in progress (internally developed software)
At cost 10 148 2 538

10 148 2 538
11 994 4 911

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period 2 373 87
Transfer from work in progress - 2 482
Amortisation expense (527) (196)
Carrying amount at end of period 1 846 2 373

Work in progress (internally developed software)
Carrying amount at start of period 2 538 3 711
Additions 5 124 1 847
Transfers from TAFE 2 486 -
Transfer to software - (2 482)
Adjustment (expensed) - (538)
Carrying amount at end of period 10 148 2 538

Note 27. Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets at 30 June 2017.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2017 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

Note 28. Payables

Current
Trade payables 1 613 1 641
Accrued expenses 11 590 6 313
Accrued salaries 490 181
Total current 13 693 8 135

Note 29. Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 2 963 2 952
Long service leave (b) 7 384 6 927
Deferred salary scheme (c) 42 8
Purchased leave (d) (36) -

10 353 9 887



 2016–17 Annual Report | 92

2017
$000

2016
$000

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (e) 46 44
46 44

10 399 9 931

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 2 910 2 973

2 910 2 973

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (e) 13 13

13 13
2 923 2 986

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to 
occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 2 399 2 290
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 564 662

2 963 2 952

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to 
occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 2 774 2 587
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 7 520 7 313

10 294 9 900

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 42 8
42 8

(d) Purchased leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. This leave must be used each calendar year and cannot be accrued 
from year to year. This liability is in debit as employees are entitled to access this leave in advance.

(e) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, 
apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost) is disclosed in note 11, 'Other expenses'.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee benefits, are set out below.
Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 57 152
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 2 (95)
Carrying amount at end of period 59 57
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 30. Other liabilities
Current
Income received in advance 16 718 19 162
Other 900 1 279
Total current 17 618 20 441

Note 31. Equity

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents 
the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting 
from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 88 791 94 224

Contribution by owners
Capital appropriation 12 216 8 279

Other contribution by owners
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account 7 235 19 275
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Community Services Account 28 400
Contribution of capital funding from TAFE colleges 2 518 2 215
Contribution of capital funding from other sources 297 388

Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Asset assumed from Department of Agriculture and Food WA - 22
Transfer of land from South Metropolitan TAFE - 1 030
Transfer of assets from TAFE colleges 4 879 -
Total contributions by owners 27 173 31 609

Distribution to owners
Transfer of net assests to other agencies:

Transfer of completed capital works projects to TAFE colleges (36 184) (34 065)
Transfers related to capital works projects to TAFE colleges (1 987) (657)
Transfers to other government agencies (2 553) (1 030)

Net assets transferred to Government:
Proceeds for disposal of assets paid to Consolidated Account - (1 290)

Total distributions to owners (40 724) (37 042)

Balance at the end of period 75 240 88 791

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period 201 984
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Buildings 4 672 (783)
Balance at end of period 4 873 201

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period 120 675 99 363
Result for the period 68 887 21 312
Balance at end of period 189 562 120 675

Total equity at end of period 269 675 209 667
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 32. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 107 694 59 324
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 18 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') 54 189 64 733

161 883 124 057

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services (289 028) (354 330)

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9 'Depreciation and amortisation expense') 2 382 2 119
Doubtful debts expense (note 11 'Other expenses') 83 546
Services received free of charge (note 17 'Income from State Government') 496 1 092
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 16 'Net gain/(loss) on 
disposal of non‑current assets')

220 (1 270)

(Gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value – Land (459) 459
Transfer of prior year capital expenditure - 594
Gain from changes in fair value of biological assets (143) (185)
Loss from changes in net realisable value of inventories 15 (9)

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables(a) (2 673) 1 563
Non-current biological assets 99 141

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables(a) 5 564 (8 489)
Other current liabilities (2 823) 1 132
Current provisions 468 245
Non-current provisions (62) 71
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) 1 281 730
Change in GST in receivables/payables(c) (1 227) (1 034)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (285 807) (356 625)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable / payable in respect of 
the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 33. Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal 
operations of the Department:

Department of Education Services 13 49
13 49

The estimated value of services provided to the following TAFE colleges and Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts is:

North Metropolitan TAFE 5 965 3 151
South Metropolitan TAFE 6 807 3 840
North Regional TAFE 1 621 1 694
Central Regional TAFE 1 476 1 759
South Regional TAFE 1 707 1 531
WA Academy of Performing Arts (Edith Cowan University) 22 12

17 598 11 987

Note 34. Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 5 940 6 313
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 24 769 27 875
Later than 5 years 50 623 26 623

81 332 60 811
The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a thirteen year term, with rent payable 
monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be 
increased by the lower of CPI or 3.5% per annum. An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the thirteen year term for 
two options of three years.

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 45 362 80 809
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 33 660 48 531

79 022 129 340
The commitments above are inclusive of GST.

Note 35. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent Asset
The Department has lodged an application for a compensation order as a result of a proven case of fraud against an employee 
of a Registered Training Organisation previously contracted by the Department. The potential financial effect of the success of 
the claim cannot be reliably measured at this time.
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Contingent Liability

The Department works together with the TAFE colleges, as the site managing body, to maintain a safe environment for site 
users. Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 (CSA), the Department is required to report known and suspected contaminated 
sites to the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the CSA, DWER classifies these 
sites according to the anticipated risk to health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as 
‘contaminated – remediation required’ or ‘possibly contaminated – investigation required’, the Department may have liability in 
respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

The Department has identified one suspected contaminated site for which further investigation and a partial remediation 
process is nearing completion and one possibly contaminated site. The Department is awaiting assessments by DWER and is 
unable to assess the likely outcome of the classification process, and accordingly it is not practicable to estimate the potential 
financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflows. Whilst there is no possibility of 
reimbursement of any future expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of these sites, the Department may apply for 
funding from DWER’s Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake further investigative work or to meet remediation 
costs that may be required.

Note 36. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

No events have occurred after reporting date, which would cause the financial statements to be misleading in the absence of 
disclosure.
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Note 37. Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between the actual results for 2017 and 2016 
are shown below. Narratives are provided for selected major variations, which are generally greater than:
- 5% and $12.2 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and
- 5% and $4.8 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(CONTROLLED OPERATIONS)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

 
 

2017 
$000

Actual 
 
 
 

2017 
$000

Actual 
 
 
 

2016 
$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
 

$000

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2017 and 

2016 
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 59 881 52 768 52 515 (7 113) 253
Supplies and services 26 215 23 033 25 507 (3 182) (2 474)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1 857 2 382 2 119 525 263
Accommodation expenses 5 802 5 614 5 133 (188) 481
Grants and subsidies 1, A 511 794 458 985 512 674 (52 809) (53 689)
Loss on disposal of non-current assets - 220 - 220 220
Loss arising from changes in net realisable 
value – inventories

- 15 - 15 15

Other expenses 5 819 8 260 11 856 2 441 (3 596)

Total Cost of Services 611 368 551 277 609 804 (60 091) (58 527)

Income

Revenue
User charges and fees 47 653 40 158 44 618 (7 495) (4 460)
Commonwealth grants and contributions B 216 792 213 567 198 824 (3 225) 14 743
Interest revenue 1 408 1 236 1 604 (172) (368)
Other revenue 7 302 6 686 8 449 (616) (1 763)

Total Revenue 273 155 261 647 253 495 (11 508) 8 152

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets - - 1 785 - (1 785)
Gain arising from changes in fair value – land - 459 - 459 459
Gain arising from changes in net realisable 
value – inventories

- - 9 - (9)

Gain arising from changes in fair value – 
livestock

- 143 185 143 (42)

Total gains - 602 1 979 602 (1 377)

Total income other than from State 
Government

273 155 262 249 255 474 (10 906) 6 775

NET COST OF SERVICES 338 213 289 028 354 330 (49 185) (65 302)

Income from State Government
Services appropriation 353 472 353 472 366 368 - (12 896)

Services received free of charge 294 496 1 092 202 (596)

Royalties for Regions Fund 5 001 3 947 8 182 (1 054) (4 235)

Total income from State Government 358 767 357 915 375 642 (852) (17 727)

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 20 554 68 887 21 312 48 333 47 575
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(CONTROLLED OPERATIONS)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

 
 

2017 
$000

Actual 
 
 
 

2017 
$000

Actual 
 
 
 

2016 
$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
 

$000

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2017 and 

2016 
$000

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus - 4 672 (783) 4 672 5 455

Total other comprehensive income - 4 672 (783) 4 672 5 455

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD

20 554 73 559 20 529 53 005 53 030

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives
1) Grants and subsidies expense was lower than estimates by $52.8 million (10.3%) largely due to lower levels of training 

demand, lower than expected training delivery for international students and the Commonwealth National Agreement on 
Skills and Workforce Development population share adjustment.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
A) Grants and subsidies expense decreased by $53.7 million (10.5%) largely due to lower levels of training demand at the 

TAFE colleges, Private Training Providers and TAFE International Western Australia.
B) Commonwealth grants and contributions increased by $14.7 million (7.4%) largely due to additional funding under the 

Commonwealth National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(CONTROLLED OPERATIONS)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
 
 
 

$000

Actual 
2017 

 
 
 
 

$000

Actual 
2016 

 
 
 
 

$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
 
 

$000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2, C 18 342 107 694 59 324 89 352 48 370
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3, D 81 174 53 989 64 733 (27 185) (10 744)
Inventories 12 6 21 (6) (15)
Receivables 10 262 9 480 6 082 (782) 3 398
Other assets 941 2 464 3 262 1 523 (798)

Total current assets 110 731 173 633 133 422 62 902 40 211

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 200 - 200 200
Biological assets 240 330 284 90 46
Amounts receivable for services 38 874 38 874 37 017 - 1 857
Property, plant and equipment 4, E 77 865 89 277 75 526 11 412 13 751
Intangible assets F 10 148 11 994 4 911 1 846 7 083

Total Non-current assets 127 127 140 675 117 738 13 548 22 937

TOTAL ASSETS 237 858 314 308 251 160 76 450 63 148

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables 16 116 13 693 8 135 (2 423) 5 558
Provisions 9 686 10 399 9 931 713 468
Other current liabilities 17 993 17 618 20 441 (375) (2 823)

Total current liabilities 43 795 41 710 38 507 (2 085) 3 203

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 2 915 2 923 2 986 8 (63)

Total non-current liabilities 2 915 2 923 2 986 8 (63)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 46 710 44 633 41 493 (2 077) 3 140

NET ASSETS 191 148 269 675 209 667 78 527 60 008

EQUITY

Contributed equity 5, G 49 604 75 240 88 791 25 636 (13 551)

Asset revaluation reserve 984 4 873 201 3 889 4 672

Accumulated surplus 140 560 189 562 120 675 49 002 68 887

TOTAL EQUITY 191 148 269 675 209 667 78 527 60 008
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Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives
2) Cash and cash equivalents was higher than estimates by $89.4 million (487.1%) largely due to lower levels of training demand 

and the timing of expenditure on TAFE sector capital works projects.
3) Restricted cash and cash equivalents is lower than estimates by $27.2 million (33.5%) largely due to lower levels of training 

demand for international students and timing of capital works projects.
4) Property, plant and equipment was higher than estimates by $11.4 million (14.7%) largely due to building improvements and 

revaluation increments.
5) Contributed equity was higher than estimates by $25.6 million (51.7%) largely due to the timing of the transfer of completed 

capital works projects to the TAFE sector.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
C) Cash and cash equivalents increased by $48.4 million (81.5%) largely due to the lower levels of training demand and timing 

of expenditure on TAFE sector capital works projects.
D) Restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $10.7 million (16.6%) largely due to the timing of expenditure associated 

with training delivery for international students and the completion of Royalty for Regions funded projects.
E) Property, plant and equipment increased by $13.8 million (18.2%) largely due to building improvements and revaluation 

increments.
F) Intangible assets increased by $7.1 million (144.2%) largely due to software licence acquisition and the costs relating to 

configuration and implementation of the student management system.
G) Contributed equity decreased by $13.6 million (15.3 %) largely due to a lower Royalties for Regions Fund contribution and 

the timing of the transfer of completed projects to the TAFE sector.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(CONTROLLED OPERATIONS)

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2017 
 
 
 

$000

Actual 
2017 

 
 
 
 

$000

Actual 
2016 

 
 
 
 

$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
 
 

$000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2017 and 

2016 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 351 615 351 615 365 161 - (13 546)
Capital appropriation 12 216 12 216 8 279 - 3 937
Royalties for Regions Fund H 12 308 11 210 27 857 (1 098) (16 647)
Contribution of capital funding from other 
sources

755 2 579 2 603 1 824 (24)

Non-retained revenue distributed to owner - - (1 290) - 1 290

Net cash provided by State Government 376 894 377 620 402 610 726 (24 990)

Utilised as follows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (60 916) (51 670) (56 024) 9 246 4 354
Supplies and services and other expenses (33 467) (33 952) (38 832) (485) 4 880
Grants and subsidies (511 794) (459 613) (515 493) 52 181 55 880
GST payments on purchases (20 821) (19 561) (18 738) 1 260 (823)

Receipts
User charges and fees 45 889 38 096 43 948 (7 793) (5 852)
Commonwealth grants and contributions 216 792 213 867 200 876 (2 925) 12 991
Interest received 1 408 1 384 1 568 (24) (184)
GST receipts on sales 840 760 876 (80) (116)
GST receipts from taxation authority 19 981 17 520 17 133 (2 461) 387
Other receipts 6 191 7 362 8 061 1 171 (699)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities

(335 897) (285 807) (356 625) 50 090 70 818

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchases of non-current assets I (59 489) (54 059) (38 017) 5 430 (16 042)

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets - 72 1 308 72 (1 236)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing 
activities

(59 489) (53 987) (36 709) 5 502 (17 278)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

(18 492) 37 826 9 276 56 318 28 550

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the period

118 008 124 057 114 781 6 049 9 276

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD

99 516 161 883 124 057 62 367 37 826

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
H) Royalties for Regions Fund decreased by $16.6 million (59.8%) largely due to the completion of capital works projects and the 

Muresk Degree program.
I) Purchase of non-current assets increased by $16.0 million (42.2%) mainly due to increased spending on the TAFE sector 

capital works projects and configuration and implementation of the student management system.
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Note 38. Financial instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 
payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is a possibility of the Department's receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting 
in a financial loss to the Department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is 
the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 38(c) ‘Financial 
instruments disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable 
for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy 
third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable data in client credit 
ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to note 38(c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast 
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Department's 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks. The Department’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to 
the long-term debt obligations.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period are:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 107 694 59 324
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 54 189 64 733
Receivables (a) 6 886 3 434
Amounts receivable for services 38 874 37 017

Financial liabilities
Payables 13 693 8 135
(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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(c) Financial instruments disclosures
Credit risk
The following table details the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
amount

Not past due
and not

impaired

Up to 1 
month

1-3 months 3 months
to 1 year

1-5 years More than
5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Cash and cash equivalents 107 694 107 694 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 54 189 54 189 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 6 886 6 567 241 6 65 7 - -
Amounts receivable for services 38 874 38 874 - - - - - -

207 643 207 324 241 6 65 7 - -
2016

Cash and cash equivalents 59 324 59 324 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 64 733 64 733 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 3 434 3 100 85 182 67 - - -
Amounts receivable for services 37 017 37 017 - - - - - -

164 508 164 174 85 182 67 - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Department's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section 
includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted
average

effective
interest 

rate

Carrying
amount

Fixed 
interest

rate

Variable
interest

rate

Non-
interest
bearing

Nominal
amount

Up to
1 month

1–3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1–5 years More than
5 years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 107 694 - - 107 694 107 694 107 694 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1.98 54 189 - 52 796 1 393 54 189 54 189 - - - -

Receivables(a) 6 886 - - 6 886 6 886 6 886 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 38 874 - - 38 874 38 874 - - - 38 874 -

207 643 - 52 796 154 847 207 643 168 769 - - 38 874

Financial liabilities

Payables 13 693 - - 13 693 13 693 13 693 - - - -

13 693 - - 13 693 13 693 13 693 - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted
average

effective
interest 

rate

Carrying
amount

Fixed 
interest

rate

Variable
interest

rate

Non-
interest
bearing

Nominal
amount

Up to
1 month

1–3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1–5 years More than
5 years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2016

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 59 324 - - 59 324 59 324 59 324 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.39 64 733 - 58 586 6 147 64 733 64 733 - - - -

Receivables(a) 3 434 - - 3 434 3 434 - - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 37 017 - - 37 017 37 017 - - - 37 017 -

164 508 - 58 586 105 922 164 508 124 057 - - 37 017

Financial liabilities

Payables 8 135 - - 8 135 8 135 8 135 - - - -

8 135 - - 8 135 8 135 8 135 - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the 
period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

−100 basis points +100 basis points

Carrying
amount

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Financial assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents(a) 52 796 (528) (528) 528 528

Total increase/(decrease) 52 796 (528) (528) 528 528

2016

Financial assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents(a) 58 586 (586) (586) 586 586

Total increase/(decrease) 58 586 (586) (586) 586 586

(a) The Training and Muresk interest bearing accounts are the only cash balances within restricted cash subject to interest earnings.

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a 
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 39. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 183 180
183 180

Note 40. Affiliated bodies

The table below are government affiliated bodies that received grants from the Department. These Training Councils are not 
subject to operational control by the Department.

Community Services, Health and Education Training Council 405 524
Construction Training Council 350 524
Financial, Administrative and Professional Services Training Council 405 649
Food, Fibre & Timber Industries Training Council 405 587
Futurenow – Creative and Leisure Industries Training Council 405 649
Logistics Training Council 405 524
Retail and Personal Services Industry Training Council 405 524
Resources Industry Training Council 350 524
Utilities, Engineering, Electrical and Automotive Training Council 614 1 111

3 744 5 616

Note 41. Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs
During the financial year, $566 500 (2016: $140 743) was written off under the authority of:
The accountable authority - 140
Executive Council 567 -

567 140

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
During the financial year, there were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes.

(c) Gifts of public property
There were no gifts of public property provided by the Department during the financial year.

Note 42. Indian Ocean Territories
Reconciliation of Commonwealth funds received and expended for the Indian Ocean Territories
Opening balance 2 (1)
Receipts 140 177
Payments (148) (174)
Closing balance (6) 2
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Note 43. Disclosure of administered income and expense by service

Workforce Planning and
Development

Development of
Vocational Education

and Training Policy
and Programs

Career and Workforce
Development Services

Skilled Migration,
including Overseas

Qualification
Assessment

Apprenticeship
and Traineeship
Administration
and Regulation

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS

Income
For transfer:
Temporary Worker (Skilled) 
Visa Holder (Subclass 457) 
Child School Fee 

- - - - - - - - - -

Proceeds from disposal of 
non-current assets

- - - - - - - - - -

Total administered income - - - - - - - - - -

Expenses
Payments to the consolidated 
account

- - - - - - - - - -

Total administered expenses - - - - - - - - - -
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Note 43. Disclosure of administered income and expense by service

Procurement
of Training

Recruitment and 
Management of 

International Students

Infrastructure 
Management for

TAFE Colleges

Support services
to TAFE Colleges

Total

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS

Income
For transfer:
Temporary Worker (Skilled) 
Visa Holder (Subclass 457) 
Child School Fee 

- - 4 286 5 979 - - - - 4 286 5 979

Proceeds from disposal of 
non-current assets

- - - - - 1 805 - - - 1 805

Total administered income - - 4 286 5 979 - 1 805 - - 4 286 7 784

Expenses
Payments to the consolidated 
account

- - 4 286 5 979 - - - - 4 286 6 107

Total administered expenses - - 4 286 5 979 - - - - 4 286 6 107
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Note 44. Explanatory statement for administered items
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between actual results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key 
major variances, which are generally greater than 5% and $107 000.

Variance
Note

Original
Budget

2017

$000

Actual
2017

$000

Actual
2016

$000

Variance 
between 
estimate

and actual

$000

Variance 
between 

actual results 
for 2017 and 

2016
$000

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Income

For transfer
Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder (Subclass 457) Child School Fee 1, A 5 360 4 286 5 979 (1 074) (1 693)
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets B - - 1 805 - (1 805)

Total administered income 5 360 4 286 7 784 (1 074) (3 498)

Expenses
Payments to the consolidated account 2, C 5 360 4 286 6 107 (1 074) (1 821)

Total administered expenses 5 360 4 286 6 107 (1 074) (1 821)

NET INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS - - 1 677 - (1 677)

Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variance Narratives
1) The school fees for 457 visa holders was lower than estimates by $1.1 million (20%) due to lower than anticipated student numbers.
2) Payments to consolidated account was lower than estimates by $1.1 million (20%) due to lower than anticipated student numbers.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives
A) The school fees for 457 visa holders decreased by $1.7 million (28.3%) due to lower student numbers.
B) Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets decreased by $1.8 million (100%) as there were no asset disposals in 2017.
C) The decrease in payments to the consolidated account of $1.8 million (29.8%) is due to lower student fees received.
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2017
$000

2016
$000

Note 45. Administered assets and liabilities
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1 511 1 980

Total administered current assets 1 511 1 980

TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS 1 511 1 980

Current liabilities
Payables 1 511 1 980

Total administered current liabilities 1 511 1 980

TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES 1 511 1 980
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Certification of key performance indicators

Additional key performance 
indicators information

For the year ended 30 June 2017

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

ANNE DRISCOLL 
A/Director General
(Accountable Authority)

5 September 2017

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Framework

The Department’s outcome based management 
framework was developed in consultation with the 
Department of Treasury and the Office of the Auditor 
General. The effectiveness and efficiency indicators 
reflect a broad scope of the Department’s services.

Desired outcomes Key effectiveness indicators

A skilled workforce that 
meets the State’s economic 
and community needs

Extent to which career and workforce development advice 
provided to clients results in employment or training outcomes

Proportion of State nominated skilled migrants employed in 
priority occupations after arrival

A flexible, responsive, 
innovative and quality 
training system

Proportion of delivery in training aligned with State priority 
occupations

Proportion of graduates satisfied with the overall quality  
of training

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Services Key efficiency indicators

Workforce planning and  
development Average cost per industry and stakeholder contact 

Development of VET policy  
and programs Average cost of meeting major policy milestones

Career and workforce  
development services Average cost per career and workforce development centre client contact

Skilled migration, including overseas 
qualification assessment Average cost to administer migration applications and overseas qualification assessments

Apprenticeship and traineeship 
administration and regulation Average cost per active training contract

Procurement of  
training Cost per student curriculum hour

Recruitment and management  
of international students Average cost of recruitment and management per full time equivalent international student 

Infrastructure management for  
TAFE colleges Average cost to administer training infrastructure per TAFE college

Support services to  
TAFE colleges Average cost to administer support services per TAFE college

Disclosures and legal compliance
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OEI 1.1: Extent to which career and workforce 
development advice provided to clients 
results in employment or training outcomes
OEI 1.1 measures the proportion of Career Centre, 
Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre, Workforce 
Development Centre and Aboriginal Training and 
Employment clients who entered employment, 
education or training, changed employment or made 
a career decision, choice or plan after receiving direct 
assistance. A higher proportion indicates greater 
development and use of skills in the workforce.

Data for this indicator are derived from a Department 
survey of clients. In 2016–17 the survey was sent 
to 5 663 clients and there were 1 656 responses (a 
response rate of 29.2%). Of these, 1 154 clients had an 
employment or training outcome. The survey confidence 
level interval at the 95% confidence level was ±2.0%.

Table 1: Extent to which career and workforce 
development advice provided to clients results in 
employment or training outcomes

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

60% 69.7% 77.1% Note1

Source: DTWD survey
1 The variance from the target is due largely to the timing 
of survey data collection in 2015–16 which led to an 

underestimate in the 2016–17 target. The variance from 
2015–16 results is due to fewer clients in regional areas 
reporting an outcome in an environment of declining student 
enrolments and weaker labour market conditions. 

OEI 1.2: Proportion of State nominated skilled 
migrants employed in priority occupations 
after arrival
OEI 1.2 measures the number of migrants nominated 
under Western Australia’s State Nominated Migration 
Program and residing in WA who are working in a 
priority occupation. A higher proportion indicates the 
SNMP is supplementing the State’s workforce with a 
more appropriate skilled migration intake.

Data for this indicator are derived from a Department 
survey of clients. The survey was sent to the 142 skilled 
migrants who had registered with the Department since 
1 July 2016, of which 139 responded (a response rate of 
97.9%). The survey confidence level interval at the 95% 
confidence level was ±1.2%.

In 2016–17 there were 115 respondents who were 
living in WA. Of these, 78 clients were employed in a 
priority occupation.

Table 2: Proportion of State nominated skilled migrants 
employed in priority occupations after arrival

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

40% 67.8% 35.0% Note2

Source: DTWD survey
2 The variance between the target and the 2016–17 results 
is largely due to the proportional increase in the number of 
occupations requiring a full time contract of employment 
(Schedule 2) on the 2016–17 WASMOL. This compositional 
change in the make-up of the WASMOL was due to 
the State’s moderating labour market. The increase in 
occupations requiring a full time contract is also reflected in 
the variance from 2015–16.

OEI 2.1: Proportion of delivery in training 
aligned with State priority occupations
OEI 2.1 measures the hours of publicly funded delivery 
in priority training as a proportion of all publicly funded 
delivery. A higher proportion indicates the training 
system is more responsive to the employment and  
skill needs of the State and flexible in adapting to the 
State’s priorities. 

Hours are calculated based on the 2016 calendar 
year. In 2016 there was a total of 32 622 025 publicly 
funded delivery hours. Of these, 21 340 706 hours were 
delivered in priority training areas.

Key outcome effectiveness  
indicators 

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Priority training areas are those qualifications/courses 
eligible for an entitlement, plus other foundation and 
equity courses where the Government subsidises the 
majority of course costs (i.e. all training other than 
general industry training).

Table 3: Proportion of delivery in training aligned with 
State priority occupations

2016–17  
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual

65% 65.4% 63.8%

Source: DTWD VET Enrolment Collection 

OEI 2.2: Proportion of graduates satisfied with 
the overall quality of training
OEI 2.2 measures the proportion of vocational education 
and training graduates in Western Australia who are 
satisfied with the overall quality of training. A higher 
proportion indicates a better quality training system.

Data for this indicator are derived from a National Centre 
for Vocational Education Research survey. There were  
4 232 Western Australian graduates in scope in the 
sample and a 1 500 responses (a response rate of 
35.4%).  The survey confidence level interval at the 95% 
confidence level was ±1.6%.

Table 4: Proportion of graduates satisfied with the 
overall quality of training

2016–17  
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual

89% 87.4% 87.9%

Source: National Centre for Vocational Education Research, 
Student Outcomes Survey 2016

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Key service efficiency  
indicators

SEI1.1: Average cost per industry and 
stakeholder contact
The Department works closely with industry, the 
community and across government in gathering and 
analysing workforce data and intelligence to identify the 
State’s workforce development and training priorities.

SEI 1.1 measures the average cost (including overheads) 
per formal contact on workforce planning and 
development matters with external organisations 
identified on an endorsed stakeholder list. Grants to 
industry training councils are excluded from the total cost.

A lower cost indicates more cost effective coordination 
of workforce planning and development consultations. 
Total costs for 2016–17 were $5 282 052.

In 2016–17 there were 1 859 formal contacts with 
stakeholders. These included planning meetings and 
official correspondence via letters, emails and scheduled 
phone calls. 

Table 5: Average cost per industry and stakeholder contact

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

$2 319 S2 841 $4 356 Note3

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data
3 The variance from the target is due to an increase in national 
level training product review and development activities, as 
well as changes in the calculation of costs which sees around 
75% of the total cost of service excluded in the 2016–17 

target and only grants to industry training councils excluded 
in the 2016–17 actual. The variance from 2015–16 is due 
to the aforementioned increase in contacts due to training 
product review and development.

SEI2.1: Average cost of meeting major  
policy milestones
The Department develops policies and programs 
that promote the effective and efficient operation 
of the State’s vocational education and training 
system. Policy and program development is aligned 
to the Department’s strategic direction for workforce 
development and training including higher education 
and the school sector.

SEI 2.1 measures the cost of Policy, Planning and 
Research branch (including overheads) per Ministerial 
briefing note. A lower cost indicates more cost effective 
policy and program development.

The number of Ministerial briefing notes in 2016–17 
was 303. Total costs were $6 710 542.

Table 6: Average cost of meeting major  
policy milestones

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

$41 850 $22 147 $27 843 Note4

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data
4 The variance from the 2016–17 target is due largely to a 
higher than anticipated number of briefings relating to the 

research, policy development and implementation of reforms 
in 2016–17 at both State and national level, as well as lower 
than anticipated salaries and contract for service expenditure. 
The increase in the number of briefings is also reflected in the 
variance from 2015–16.

SEI3.1: Average cost per career and workforce 
development centre client contact
Career and workforce development services provide 
education and training information, and career 
guidance to the Western Australian community, as well 
as employment, training and mentoring services to 
Aboriginal people and communities.

SEI 3.1 measures the average cost (including overheads) 
of providing career and workforce development 
services per client contact. A lower cost indicates a 
more cost effective provision of career and workforce 
development services.

The total number of client contacts was 40 881, including 
12 008 at the Career Centre, 7 570 at Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Centres, 19 769 at contracted 
Career Centres and 1 534 at contracted Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Centres.

Total expenditure on career and workforce 
development centres in 2016–17 was $12 471 641.

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Table 7: Average cost per career and workforce 
development centre client contact

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

$220 $305 $307 Note5

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data
5 The variance from the target is due largely to a change in the 
definition of contacts. The target number of contacts included 
multiple services provided to a client per contact, while the 
revised methodology counts individual contacts only.

SEI4.1: Average cost to administer migration 
applications and overseas qualification 
assessments
Skilled migration, including overseas qualification 
assessment, assesses applications from intending 
skilled migrants who wish to migrate to Western 
Australia, and assesses post-secondary qualifications 
gained overseas for Western Australian residents. The 
service aims to facilitate skilled migration to Western 
Australia to supplement the local workforce and enable 
overseas trained residents to access education, training 
and employment through recognition of overseas 
qualifications.

SEI 4.1 measures the average cost (including overheads) 
to process migration and overseas qualification 
applications. A lower cost indicates a more cost effective 
process for assessing overseas qualifications and 
administering migration program applications.

In 2016–17 there were 4 561 migration applications 
and qualification assessments. Total expenditure  
was $1 717 069.

Table 8: Average cost to administer migration 
applications and overseas qualification assessments

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

$383 $376 $320 Note6

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data
6 The variance from 2015–16 to 2016–17 is due largely to 
the fact that the number of skilled migration applications 
reduced significantly from 13 March 2017 due to the 
reduction in occupations on the Western Australian Skilled 
Migration Occupation List for the State Nominated Migration 
Program and the suspension of new applications for the 
Perth region of the Regional Sponsored Migration Scheme.

SEI5.1: Average cost per active  
training contract
Apprenticeship and traineeship administration and 
regulation includes registration of training contracts 
and administration of contract variations, educating 
participants on training contract and legislation 
requirements, dispute resolution and monitoring of 
legislative compliance.

SEI 5.1 measures the average cost to Apprenticeship 
Office (including overheads) of administering 
apprenticeship and traineeship training contracts. A 
lower cost indicates more cost effective administration 
and regulation of apprenticeships and traineeships.

In 2016–17 there were 35 890 active training contracts 
(this figure is weighted according to the number of 
days contracts were active during the year). Total 
expenditure was $8 864 744.

Table 9: Average cost per active training contract

2016–17  
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual

$236 $247 $225

Source: DTWD finance data and Training Records System

Disclosures and legal compliance
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SEI6.1: Cost per student curriculum hour 
Procurement of training comprises the purchasing 
of training delivery services from TAFE colleges and 
private training providers in accordance with the State’s 
priorities and the State Training Plan. The service is 
differentiated according to the major Future Skills WA 
funding categories.

SEI 6.1 measures the average value of Government 
subsidy per student curriculum hour for each funding 
category. Hours are reported on a calendar year non-
adjusted end of study basis. A lower cost indicates a more 
cost effective administration of the State training system.

The number of funded hours in 2016 was 32 622 025. 
Total expenditure on procurement of training in 
2016–17 was $422 329 180. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEI7.1: Average cost of recruitment and 
management per full time equivalent 
international student
Recruitment and management of international students 
involves the marketing of Western Australian TAFE 
colleges and public schools off shore and on shore, and 
the management of admissions, compliance and the 
welfare of international students according to relevant 
legislation.

SEI 7.1 measures the average cost per student 
(including overheads) to recruit and monitor 
compliance of international students. A lower 
cost indicates more efficient management of the 
international education and training business.

The total number of international full time equivalent 
student enrolments in 2016–17 was 6 970. Total 
expenditure, excluding grants to training providers and 
schools, was $9 737 237.

Table 11: Average cost of recruitment and management 
per full time equivalent international student

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

$1 802 $1 397 $1 445 Note8

Source: DTWD finance and TAFE WA International enrolment data
8 The variance largely relates to savings in salaries and wages 
expenses due to a number of vacant positions, one off savings 
in lease accommodation costs and one off savings in agent 
fees and advertising expenses.

Table 10: Cost per student curriculum hour 2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16 
actual Variance

Diploma and above $10.33 $9.30 $10.71 Note7

Apprentices and trainees (Certificate IV and below) $13.53 $12.77 $13.96

Priority industry training (Certificate I to Certificate IV) $12.27 $12.21 $12.72

General industry training (Certificate I to Certificate IV) $14.71 $14.96 $15.25

Foundation skills courses $16.17 $15.70 $16.75

Source: DTWD finance data and VET Enrolment Collection
7 The variance from the 2016–17 target in diploma and above training is largely due to lower than anticipated grants for 
training delivery due to lower levels of student demand.

Total expenditure on 
procurement of training in 
2016–17 was $422 329 180.

Disclosures and legal compliance
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SEI8.1: Average cost to administer training 
infrastructure per TAFE college
Infrastructure management for TAFE colleges includes 
the maintenance, administration and strategic 
development of land and buildings used to deliver 
publicly funded training in campuses across the State.

SEI 8.1 measures the average cost per TAFE 
college (including overheads) for providing training 
infrastructure management services and support. A 
lower cost indicates more efficient administration of 
training infrastructure management.

Total costs in 2016–17 (excluding grants and capital 
program costs, lease costs and infrastructure 
administration costs borne by the colleges) were  
$2 739 128.  

Table 12: Average cost to administer training 
infrastructure per TAFE college

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance 

$511 676 $547 826 $262 555 Note9

Source: DTWD finance data
9 On 11 April 2016 the 11 former State Training Providers 
were abolished and five new TAFE colleges were created. 
The variance from 2015–16 to 2016–17 largely relates to the 
revision of the indicator to reflect the average cost for the five 
new TAFE colleges as well as a small increase in management 
fees from Department of Finance – Building Management 
and Works ($0.2m). The Total Cost of Efficiency Indicator has 
been pro‑rationed over the number of colleges in existence 
during 2015–16.

SEI9.1: Average cost to administer support 
services per TAFE college
Support services to TAFE colleges include the supply, 
management and maintenance of information and 
communication technology, finance, and human 
resource services.

SEI 9.1 measures the average cost per TAFE college 
(including overheads) for providing corporate services, 
and information and communication technology 
systems and support. A lower cost indicates more cost 
effective delivery of support services for the  
TAFE network.

Total costs in 2016–17 (excluding ICT and other costs 
borne by the colleges) were $33 534 090.

Table 13: Average cost to administer support services 
per TAFE college

2016–17 
target

2016–17
actual

2015–16
actual Variance

$6 866 600 $6 706 818 $4 058 153 Note10

Source: DTWD finance data
10 On 11 April 2016 the 11 former State Training Providers 
were abolished and five new TAFE colleges were created. 
The variance from 2015–16 to 2016–17 largely reflects the 
revision of the indicator to reflect the average cost for the 
five new TAFE colleges, as well as higher salaries expenditure 
from the anticipated filling of vacant positions and changes 
to the approved organisational structure. The Total Cost of 
Efficiency Indicator has been pro‑rationed over the number of 
colleges in existence during 2015–16.

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Ministerial directives
Treasurer’s Instruction 903 (12) requires the 
Department to disclose details of any Ministerial 
directives relevant to the setting of desired outcomes 
or operational objectives, the achievement of desired 
outcomes or operational objectives, investment 
activities and financing activities. No such directives 
were issued by the Minister for Education and Training 
in 2016–17.

Other financial disclosures 
Pricing policies of services provided

The fees charged by public providers for VET delivery 
are governed by section 67 of the Vocational Education 
and Training Act 1996, and Part 3 Division 2 and 
Schedule 1 of the Vocational Education and Training 
(Colleges) Regulations 1996. All publicly funded VET 
providers are required to charge fees in accordance 
with the Department’s VET Fees and Charges  
Policy 2017.

For vocational courses, a course fee is charged which is 
the sum of fees for all units in which the student enrols. 
Providers may also charge fees for resources consumed 
or used by students during the course of their study. 
This is set by training providers and must be notified to 
students in advance of enrolment. Fees are calculated 
at an hourly rate based on nominal hours for each unit 
commenced in 2017. The course fee structure for 2017 
is outlined in table 1.

Table 1: Course fees in 2017

CATEGORY OF ENROLMENT

Non-concession Student 
Fee rate per 

nominal hour

Diploma, Advanced Diploma and Existing Worker Traineeships $5.79

Apprenticeships, traineeships* and priority industry qualifications (up to Certificate IV) $3.25

General industry training (up to Certificate IV) $4.88

Foundation skills and equity courses $0.21

Concession Student 
Fee rate per 

nominal hour

Concession-eligible Diploma and Advanced Diploma courses $1.74

Apprenticeships, traineeships* and priority industry qualifications (up to Certificate IV) $0.97

General industry training (up to Certificate IV) $1.47

Foundation skills and equity courses $0.21

*Excludes existing worker traineeships
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Projects completed
The following capital works projects were completed in 
the 2016–17 financial year:
• Health and Allied Services Training Centre at 

Pundulmurra campus – $12.4 million

• Electrical Instrumentation Centre for Specialisation 
at Karratha campus – $9.5 million

• Interactive Student Hub at Geraldton campus – 
$2.755 million

• Stage 2 of Australian Centre for Energy and Process 
Training – $12 million

Major capital works

Electrical Instrumentation Centre for Specialisation – Karratha campus
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PROJECTS IN PROGRESS

TAFE college Project

Expected 
completion 

date

Actual expenditure 
2016–17

($000) 

Actual expenditure 
2015–16  

(includes capital grants)
($000)

Estimated cost 
to complete 

($000)

Estimated 
total cost

($000)

North Metropolitan TAFE Mt Lawley campus* Feb 2018 829 1 710 461 3 000

South Metropolitan TAFE Murdoch – Stage 4 Nov 2017 21 611 7 493 9 940 41 970**

North Regional TAFE South Hedland and Karratha campuses – 
upgrade and expansion  
(Royalties for Regions)

Dec 2017 441 5 095 644 15 219**

North Regional TAFE Remediation and replacement of air 
conditioning at various campuses

July 2019 684 Nil 3 316 4 000

Central Regional TAFE Aged care and nursing studies at Northam 
campus

Dec 2017 100 10 650 760

New remedial works 
project

Campus scorecards – the assessment and 
implementation of necessary remedial 
works to extend lifespan of current 
infrastructure. Following campuses have 
commenced:
Albany ($2 million)
Bunbury ($4.1 million)
Kalgoorlie ($4 million)
Bentley ($1 million)
Karratha ($4.05 million)

Jul 2018
Jul 2019
Jul 2019
Jul 2018
Jul 2020

693
0

529
805

56

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

1 307
4 140
3 471

195
3 949

2 000
4 140
4 000
1 000
4 005

*Part of remedial works program
** includes expenditure in years prior to 2015–16
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Human Resources

Employee profile 
The Department employs public service officers who are 
primarily located in the metropolitan area. In 2016–17, 
there were 496 Full Time Equivalent employee numbers 
in the Department.

2015–16 2016–17

Male                Female   Male Female

Employee by gender (headcount) 189 353 196 356

Employee median age 45 44 46.6 45

Employment arrangement: part time (headcount) 11 68 11 72

Employment arrangement: full time (headcount) 178 285 185 284

Employee work location: metropolitan (FTE)     469     478 

Employee work location: regional (FTE)     16.5    18

Employment status: permanent (headcount)     472      504

Employment status: fixed term (headcount)     70     48

Employment status: casual (headcount)     0     0

Source: Human Resources Management Information System 30 June 2017.
Note: Includes officers on secondment from other Government agencies.
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Learning and development
In 2016–17, the Department continued to demonstrate 
its commitment to learning and development through:
• a calendar of professional development for staff;

• a comprehensive  induction  program offered to all 
new employees; and

• an interagency mentoring program with the 
Department of Finance, the Department of Treasury, 
the Department of Aboriginal Affairs, Lotterywest, 
Mental Health Commission and the Economic 
Regulation Authority.

Industrial relations
The Department’s Human Resources branch 
coordinates workplace and industrial matters where 
there are implications in the wider context of the 
State training sector. This includes providing labour 
relations advice and support to the Department and 
to TAFE colleges on a broad range of matters, including 
discipline and substandard performance management. 

The Department represents TAFE colleges on joint 
consultative committees with the State School 
Teachers’ Union of Western Australia and the Civil 
Service Association and in the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission on matters including 
alleged unfair dismissal and general industrial disputes. 

The Department has centrally coordinated the change 
management associated with rationalisation of 11 
State training providers to five TAFE colleges, including 
implementation of a sector-wide joint consultative 
committee with the CSA, placement of affected staff 
and voluntary severances.

Governance disclosures: contracts  
with senior officers
At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms 
of which senior officers are members, or entities 
in which senior officers have substantial interests, 
had any interests in existing or proposed contracts 
with the Department other than normal contracts of 
employment.

A comprehensive  induction  
program was offered to all 
new employees.
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Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes  
In accordance with the Disability Services Act 1993 
(amended 2004) the Department has developed 
and implemented a Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan 2017–2021. The DAIP specifies actions and 
responsibilities for each directorate to improve access 
to facilities, services and information for people with 
disability. All policies are required to be developed in 
the context of the DAIP and information is provided to 

staff at induction and online. The DAIP is also available 
in electronic format on the Department’s website. The 
DAIP provides guidelines to agents and contractors 
to ensure that everyone has equal access to services 
provided by the Department.

Outcome Strategy

People with disability have the same opportunities as 
other people to access the services of, and any events 
organised by, the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development.

• Promote inclusion and participation for people with disability in the Department’s strategic documents and policies.
• Provide opportunities for people with disability to participate in State funded training.
• Include consideration of accessibility for people with disability in contracts and contract management activities.
• Improve the validity and reliability of data relating to students with disability.
• Encourage people with disability to access services and participate in events.

People with disability have the same opportunities as  
other people to access the buildings and other facilities  
of the Department.

• Provide access to Department buildings and facilities for people with disability.
• Provide funding to TAFE colleges to improve the accessibility of training facilities.

People with disability receive information from the 
Department in a format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people are able to access it.

• Improve the accessibility of the Department’s website.
• Produce information and publications that are accessible.

People with disability receive the same level and quality of 
service from the staff of the Department as other people 
receive from the staff of the Department. 

• Support employees in providing quality services to people with disability.

People with disability have the same opportunities as  
other people to make complaints to the Department.

• Enable people with disability to access the Complaints Management Policy and process.

People with disability have the same opportunities as  
other people to participate in any public consultation by  
the Department.

• Promote accessible and inclusive stakeholder engagement to include people with disability.

People with disability have the same opportunities as  
other people to obtain and maintain employment at  
the Department.

• Foster a workplace where job opportunities are accessible to people with disability.
• Support managers and employees in the development of inclusive workplaces.
• Improve the validity and reliability of data relating to employees with disability.

Disclosures and legal compliance



 2016–17 Annual Report | 127

AppendicesContents Performance summaryThe year in review Significant issuesThe organisation Achievements 2016–17 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards  
and ethical codes
The Department complies with Public Sector Standards 
and the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics through its 
own Code of Conduct. Breach of Standard claims are 
managed as required by the Public Sector Management 
(Breaches of Public Sector Standards) Regulations 2005. 
The Department ensures compliance with Public Sector 
Standards through:
• providing information about the standards in 

relevant human resource management policies 
and resources;

• providing an advisory and consultancy service to 
staff on standards related matters;

• including information about the Public Sector Code 
of Ethics and the Department’s Code of conduct in 
the staff induction program;

• notifying job applicants of their rights and 
obligations prescribed by the regulations; and

• requiring all new staff to complete training in 
accountable and ethical decision making.

During the reporting period, there were no breach 
claims lodged with the Department.

Misconduct management
The Department reports potential misconduct to the 
Crime and Corruption Commission and the Public 
Service Commission as required under the relevant 
legislation. In 2016–17 one new notification of potential 
misconduct was made to the CCC.

Management of complaints 
General complaints are managed in accordance with 
the Department’s Complaints Management Policy 
through: 

• E: feedback@dtwd.wa.gov.au

• T: (08) 6551 5000

The policy conforms to Australian standard and public 
sector requirements.

In 2016–17, 110 complaints from members of the 
public were received and satisfactorily resolved. Public 
enquiries are managed through:

• E: info@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Enquiries are referred to the relevant area and 
responses are quality checked and processed efficiently.

Internal grievance issues are managed in accordance 
with the Grievance Resolution Policy consistent with 
relevant legislation, the Public Sector Code of Ethics, 
the Department’s Code of Conduct and relevant 
Department policies.

The Commonwealth Government’s National Training 
Complaints Hotline set up in 2015 resides with 
the Department, receiving complaints referred 
by the Commonwealth to Western Australia. The 
Department’s Complaints Management Policy applies 
for complaints received about its own products and 
services. All other complaints are referred to relevant 
agencies for action. Quarterly updates are provided to 
Corporate Executive.

Public interest disclosure
The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 facilitates 
the disclosure of information in the public interest 
about matters of wrongdoing, corruption or improper 
conduct within the Western Australian public sector. 
The legislation provides protections for the person 
raising the disclosure and any person about whom the 
disclosure is made. 

The Department has seven fully trained Public Interest 
Disclosure officers. There were no public interest 
disclosures during 2016–17. The Department’s 
induction program provides information and raises 
awareness of public interest disclosure legislation, 
including the process for making disclosures. 

Working with children checks
The Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) 
Act 2004 makes it compulsory for people in child 
related work to apply for a Working with Children 
Check. The Department currently has 68 positions 
assessed as requiring a Working with Children Check.

Criminal convictions screening
The Department’s Criminal Convictions Screening 
Policy requires all employees to hold a National 
Police Certificate which is valid for five years. In the 
2016–17 year, 58 employees were screened for criminal 
convictions.
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Record keeping 
Under the State Records Act 2000, each government 
agency is required to develop a Record keeping plan. 
The efficiency and effectiveness of the Department’s 
RKP is evaluated regularly to ensure compliance to 
the Act. The Department is working closely with the 
five TAFE colleges to ensure their record keeping 
responsibilities are adequately addressed.

The Department uses the Electronic Document and 
Records Management System HP TRIM to manage 
physical and electronic records including the 
management of the retention and disposal of such 
records. In 2016–17, approximately 187 203 documents 
were registered in Training Business Services TRIM and 
188 346 documents in Corporate TRIM. 

New staff are made aware of their record keeping 
obligations and all staff must complete the records 
awareness training, TRIM introduction course and 
assessment before access to TRIM is granted. During 
2016–17, 82 Department staff completed the 
TRIM introductory course and 86 Department staff 
completed the online awareness training.
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Language services policy
The Western Australian Language Services Policy aims 
to ensure that language is not a barrier to government 
services and programs. The Department focuses on 
those business areas which deliver services directly 
to the public. In the reporting period, translating 
and interpreting services were provided for TAFE 
International WA clients.

Substantive equality
The Department ensured that substantive equality 
was integrated into policies, workplaces and services 
provided to and by the Department. The Substantive 
Equality Framework and the Substantive Equality Policy 
continued to be implemented in 2016–17. Strategies 
and services which helped to reduce systemic 
discrimination included:
• Aboriginal Workforce Development Centres;

• Mercycare contracted career services assists 
people from a culturally and linguistically diverse 
background;

• Migration Services (education/qualification 
assessment);

• Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2017–2019;

• Aboriginal School-Based Training program;

• Language Services Policy (assisting people who 
require interpreters);

• Western Australian Group Training program;

• regional workforce development plans; and

• foundation skills training. 

During 2016–17 the Department: 
• continued its participation on relevant committees 

established to assist under-represented groups;

• reviewed the Substantive Equality Policy to 
broaden its scope to cover all forms of systemic 
discrimination; and

• conducted an assessment of the Department’s 
Migration Services which focused primarily on the 
Settlement Services function.

Occupational safety and health and  
injury management
The Department endeavours to at all times comply 
with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
and provide a safe and healthy work environment for 
employees, contractors and visitors. The Department’s 

Occupational Safety and Health Management Plan 
2016–17 was endorsed by the Occupational Safety and 
Health Committee. In 2016–17 one new safety and 
health representative was elected. The Department 
provided a comprehensive ergonomic assessment 
service with 12 assessments completed since July 2016.

Occupational safety and health training 
The Department has incorporated occupational safety 
and health awareness training into its mandatory 
induction program. The Department mandates 
additional comprehensive OSH training including two 
self-paced online training modules targeting employees 
with and without managerial responsibilities.

Government policy  
requirements
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Occupational safety and health assessment
The minimum key OSH performance indicators to be 
met by public sector agencies are set out in the Code 

of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the 
WA Public Sector, and the WA public sector agency 
requirements to adopt these are outlined in the Public 

Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2012–05. The following 
actions were progressed in 2016–17, consistent with 
the Code of Practice.

Actions Progress 2016–17

Appoint and appropriately train safety and health 
representatives.

Seven trained representatives operate across the Department. A register of current representatives is maintained.

Maintain a documented hazard identification and  
investigation process.

The Department’s hazard identification process is reported against quarterly and a database is maintained.

Maintain mechanisms for workplace consultation  
on OSH matters.

The Department’s OSH Committee meets quarterly.

Complete hazard inspections of work areas on a regular basis. Workplace inspections are performed and recorded across the Department biannually.

Maintain an OSH record keeping register. An OSH register is maintained and a database is kept.

Appoint first aid officers and fire wardens. 53 trained first aid officers and trained fire wardens operate across the Department.

80% of managers and supervisors trained in OSH as per the 
requirements of the Code of Practice.

88% of managers and supervisors are currently trained in OSH. 

Maintain a Department health and wellbeing program. A health and wellbeing program operates across the Department.

Maintain policies relevant to wellbeing, health and safety. The Department conducted the annual review of its Occupational Safety and Health Policy and Worker’s 
Compensation and Injury Management Policy. 

Flu vaccinations to be provided to employees. Flu vaccinations are offered to all staff each year and the take up increased by 8.6% in 2016–17.

Develop a corporate health calendar. All health and wellbeing activities are extensively promoted through internal newsletter articles, Corporate 
Leadership Group emails and posters displayed in communal areas.
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Workers’ compensation
To ensure best practice in the management of workers’ 
compensation claims the Department holds regular 
claim review meetings with RiskCover. All workers’ 
compensation claims are managed by RiskCover 
and the Department in accordance with legislative 
requirements to minimise time lost. In 2016–17 there 
were no new compensation claims and one carried over 

from the previous reporting period. This compares to 
seven compensation claims recorded in 2015–16.

The Department provides assistance to employees 
who sustain an injury or illness in the course of their 
duties and facilitates an early return to work where 
practicable. The Department has an Injury management 
and Workers’ Compensation Policy developed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Workers’ 

Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. The 
Department also provides assistance to employees with 
non-compensable injuries or illnesses to remain in the 
workplace where possible or facilitate an early return 
to work. A comprehensive Return to Work program is 
developed for each case under medical supervision.

Measure       Actual results Target Comment on result

2015–16               2016–17   

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 Target achieved

Lost time injury and/or disease incidence rate 0.617 0 0 or 10% reduction There were no injuries

Lost time injury and/or disease severity rate 33.33 0 0 or 10% reduction There were no injuries

Percentage of injured workers returned to work
(i)    within 13 weeks

(ii)   within 26 weeks

100%

100%

N/A

N/A

0 or 10% reduction

80%

Target achieved

Target achieved

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury

82% 88% Greater than or  
equal to 80%

Target achieved
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Unauthorised use of credit cards 
Agencies are required to publish details of instances 
in their annual report where a Western Australian 
Government Purchasing Card (a credit card) was 
used for personal use. In 2016–17, there were eight 
such instances.

Government Building Training Policy
Agencies must incorporate information pertaining 
to government building contracts, as required by 
the Premier’s Circular 2015/02 Government Building 
Training Policy, in their annual reports.

The Government Building Training Policy is administered 
by the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development. The Department, however, does not 
itself issue contracts within the scope of the policy and 
as such is not required to report on implementation.

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure $148.75

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled within 5 days $110.25

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by 30 June 2017 $38.50

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at 30 June 2017 Nil

Number of referrals for disciplinary action Nil
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Appendix 1: 
Corporate Executive

Appendices

ANNE DRISCOLL
Acting Director General 
(commenced May 2017)

Anne commenced in her role as Acting Director 
General of the Department in May 2017. 
Prior to this Anne was the Director General of 
the former Department of Commerce, a role 
she commenced in August 2015. Anne was 
Executive Director of the Consumer Protection 
Division for over seven years, where she also 
held the statutory position of Commissioner for 
Consumer Protection and Prices Commissioner. 
Since graduating from The University of Western 
Australia with a Bachelor of Arts majoring in 
psychology and commerce, Anne has gained 
experience in numerous public sector roles. 
Before joining the Department of Commerce 
in 1999 as part of the Consumer Protection 
Division’s executive management team, Anne 
worked in the employment and training sector 
for the Commonwealth Government for more 
than 18 years.

DR RUTH SHEAN
Director General 
(December 2009 to May 2017)

Ruth’s previous roles include Commissioner 
for Public Sector Standards, Director General 
of the Disability Services Commission and 
Director General of the Department for 
Community Development. Ruth has also been a 
non-government CEO, held leadership positions 
on State and Commonwealth Government 
reviews and committees and has comprehensive 
experience in university governance. As Director 
General, Ruth represented the Department on 
the Council of Australian Governments Industry 
and Skills Council and was a member of the 
School Curriculum and Standards Authority 
Board. Ruth has a Master’s Degree and a 
Doctorate of Philosophy from the University of  
Western Australia. She is a Fellow of the 
Governance Institute of Australia and the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

SIMON WALKER
Executive Director
Policy, Planning and Innovation

Simon began his career in the public sector as a 
financial analyst for Central TAFE after starting 
his career in the private sector. Simon joined 
the Department of Training in 1997 and has 
since worked in a variety of senior roles with a 
particular focus on VET sectoral planning, policy 
and resourcing. Simon represents Western 
Australia on the national Skills Senior Officials 
Network as well as being a member of the 
Curtin University School of Economics and 
Finance Advisory Board, ex-officio member of 
the Western Australian State Training Board and 
a director of the board of the National Centre for 
Vocational Education and Research.
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RUSSELL BROWN
Executive Director 
Service Resource Management

Russell has worked in the State Government for 
over 36 years and has been with the Department 
of Training and Workforce Development since 
2010. Previous appointments include senior 
positions leading agency-specific procurement 
and funding programs, quality standards 
compliance for the disability sector and several 
Commonwealth and State joint programs.  
Russell holds an Advanced Diploma in 
Government (Procurement), a Diploma in 
Training the Handicapped and has received 
accreditation from the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

KAREN HO
Executive Director 
Service Delivery

Karen Ho was appointed to her current role in 
April 2014. Karen has over 25 years of State 
public sector experience spanning labour 
market and educational research, program 
and policy evaluation, strategic policy and 
planning, legislative reform and service delivery. 
Karen has responsibility for TAFE International 
WA, career services, Aboriginal workforce 
development, migration services and a range 
of other services to the TAFE and VET sector. 
Karen graduated from the University of Western 
Australia with a Bachelor of Science (First Class 
Honours in Psychology) and has completed 
a Graduate Certificate in Management from 
Curtin University.

GRAHAM THOMPSON
Executive Director
Corporate

Graham Thompson has a Bachelor of Business 
and is a qualified Chartered Accountant with 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants. Graham 
has worked in the State public services for over 
20 years holding a number of senior financial 
management roles.
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Administered legislation
The Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 is 
administered by the Minister for Education and  
Training with the assistance of the Department. 

The Training Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 
2008 came into operation on 10 June 2009. This 
legislation amended the Vocational Education and 
Training Act 1996 and repealed the Industrial Training 
Act 1975. 

It provided a new legislative framework which allows 
for greater flexibility and a more contemporary 
training system.

Other key legislation 
In the performance of its functions the Department 
complies with the following relevant written laws.

•  Auditor General Act 2006

•  Contaminated Sites Act 2003

•  Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

•  Disability Services Act 1993

•  Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000

•  Electoral Act 1907

•  Equal Opportunity Act 1984

• Financial Management Act 2006

•  Freedom of Information Act 1992

•  Industrial Relations Act 1979

•  Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

•  Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

•  Public Sector Management Act 1994

•  Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

•  Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

•  State Records Act 2000

•  State Supply Commission Act 1991

•  Student Identifiers Act 2014

• Workers’ Compensation and Injury  
Management Act 1981

• Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking)  
Act 2004

Apendix 2: 
Legislation
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Appendix 3: Department  
services contact details

Customer Service Centre
Level 7, 3 Forrest Place
(GPO Building), Perth WA 6000

Career Centre T: 13 64 64
TTY: 08 9225 7831
E: career.centre@dtwd.wa.gov.au

TAFE International WA T: +618 9218 2100
E: admissions.tiwa@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Aboriginal Workforce 
Development Centre

T: 1800 441 043 or 9224 6535
E: awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Migration Services T: +618 9224 6540
E: migration@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Aboriginal Workforce Development Centres (Regional locations)
T: 1800 441 043  
or 9224 6535

Albany
(Southern Aboriginal 
Corporation)

45 – 47 Serpentine Road 
Albany WA 6330

T: 9842 7777
E: reception@sacorp.com.au

Broome Shop 7/20  
Dampier Terrace

T: 9194 9450 
E: broome.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Bunbury Podium Level,  
61 Victoria Street

T: 9722 9550
E: bunbury.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Geraldton Margaret House, 
Bill Sewell Complex, 
Chapman Road

T: 9938 4450
E: geraldton.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Kalgoorlie Unit 1/37  
Brookman Street

T: 9093 8650
E: kalgoorlie.awdc@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Northam
(Directions WA)

133 Fitzgerald Street 
Northam WA 6401

T: 9622 6500
E: enquiries@directionswa.com.au

Peel 
(South Metropolitan 
Youth Link)

98 Mandurah Terrace 
Mandurah WA 6210 

T: 9550 7118
E: admin@smyl.com.au

South Hedland
(Bloodwood Tree 
Association) 

19 Hamilton Road South 
Hedland WA 6722

T: 9138 3000
E: reception@bloodwoodtree.org.au 

Apprenticeship Office
16 Parkland Road, Osborne Park
T: 13 19 54
E: apprenticeshipoffice@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Muresk Institute
Muresk Road, Northam
T : 1300 994 031
E : Muresk@dtwd.wa.gov.au
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Career Centres (Regional locations)
T: 13 64 64 or (08) 9224 6500
TTY: (08) 9225 7831 (Hearing impaired only)

Albany Unit 3, 15 Peels Place

Broome 2/3 Short Street

Bunbury 3 Bourke Street

Busselton 50 Albert Square

Carnarvon 1 Camel Lane

Collie 5 Forest Street

Derby Unit 2/5–47 Loch Street

Esperance Suite 17 Esperance Business Centre 
75–79 Dempster Street

Fitzroy Crossing Great Northern Highway

Geraldton Margaret House 
Bill Sewell Complex, Chapman Road

Goldfields 5/158 Egan Street, Kalgoorlie

Halls Creek 197 Great Northern Highway

Karratha Unit 4, 28 De Grey Place

Kununurra Cnr Coolibah Drive and Messmate Way

Mandurah 56 Mandurah Terrace

Manjimup 45 Rose Street

Margaret River The Reef Centre 
Unit 6, 43 Fearn Avenue

Merredin Call for appointment

Moora Call for appointment

Narrogin 82 Federal Street

Newman Kalgan Drive

Northam 133 Fitzgerald Street

South Hedland Unit 2 South Hedland 
Lotteries House, 2 Leake Street

Career Centre (Specialist services)

Culturally and linguistically 
diverse specialists

T: 9344 2468
Mirrabooka
4 Brewer Place

Cannington
13/64–66 Kent Street

Ex-offenders specialist T: 6263 8622
East Perth
27 Moore Street
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Calendar year: 
While most data in this report describe the 2016–17 
financial year, some data describe the 2016 calendar 
year. This is because most VET courses are delivered by 
calendar year. Where possible, snapshots of training 
activity as at 30 June 2017 are also provided, to provide 
an indication of more recent activity. The number of 
apprentices and trainees in training is measured as at 
30 June 2017.

Course enrolments: 
This measure is used in preference to a head-count of 
students, because it provides a more reliable measure, 
allowing the data to be consistently analysed by 
variables such as delivery location and funding source. 
Enrolments are considered valid once some activity has 
been recorded which excludes cases where students 
enrol but do not commence training. Enrolment data 
are based on a calendar year.

Student curriculum hours: 
This measure describes the agreed nominal value of 
hours associated with a module or unit of competency. 
It is a fixed value (or‘weighting’) and does not describe 
the actual hours that an individual student spends 
in class or doing homework. SCH is considered the 
most objective measure of VET effort as it reflects the 
volume of training activity occurring.

Training and labour market statistics  
and definitions
State priority qualifications/State priority courses 
Those qualifications/courses which are eligible for an 
entitlement (the guarantee of a subsidised place).  
This group comprises apprenticeships and traineeships, 
priority industry qualifications and the two priority 
foundation skills courses, Course in Applied Vocational 
Study Skills and Course in Underpinning Skills for 
Industry Qualifications.

Broad priority training
Those qualifications/courses eligible for an entitlement, 
plus other foundation and equity courses where the 
Government subsidises the majority of course costs  
(i.e. all training other than general industry training).

Population statistics
ABS 3101.0 – Table 55 (December 2016)
Australian Bureau of Statistics – abs.gov.au

Labour market statistics
Source: ABS 6202.0 – Table 8 (June 2017), 
Seasonally Adjusted.

ABS 6291.0.55.003 – Datacube EQ08 (May 2017), 
Four Quarter Moving Average of Original Data 
Australian Bureau of Statistics – abs.gov.au

Definitions
• Employed – this definition involves persons aged 15 

years and over who meet one of several criteria.  
For the exact definition visit the Australian Bureau  
of Statistics website at abs.gov.au.

• Participation Rate – for any group, the labour force 
expressed as a percentage of the civilian population 
aged 15 years and over in the same group.

• Employment to Population Ratio – for any group 
the number of employed persons expressed as a 
percentage of the civilian population in the  
same group.

• Skilled Occupation – persons employed in 
managerial, professional or trades and technician 
level occupations as identified by the Australian and 
New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupations.

• State Priority Occupations – occupations as 
identified by the ANZSCO that are rated of the 
highest or high State level priority through the 
annual State Priority Occupation List process 
undertaken by the Department. For more 
information on the SPOL visit dtwd.wa.gov.au.

• Net Overseas Migration – the net gain or loss of 
population through immigration and emigration 
to and from Australia. For more details visit the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics website at abs.gov.au. 

Appendix 4: Terms  
used in this report
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AWDC Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre

ASBT Aboriginal school-based training

ATE Aboriginal Training and Employment program

CCC Crime and Corruption Commission

CISC COAG Industry and Skills Council

COAG Council of Australian Governments

CSA Civil Service Association

DAIP Disability access and inclusion plan

DPA Delivery and performance agreements

DTWD Department of Training and Workforce 
Development

EBT Employment based training

ELICOS English Language Intensive Course for 
Overseas Students 

FTE Full time equivalent

GBT Government Building Training Policy

GTO Group Training Organisation

IBT Institutional based training

ICT Information and Communications Technology

OQU Overseas Qualifications Unit

OSH Occupational safety and health

PID Public interest disclosure

RKP Record keeping plan

RPL Recognition of prior learning

RTW Return to work

SCH Student curriculum hours

SNMP State nominated migration program

SPOL State priority occupation list

SRC   State Records Commission

STAMP State training asset management plan

STB State Training Board

STP State training provider

TAA Travel and accommodation allowance

TAFE Technical and further education

TIWA TAFE International Western Australia

TRIM Total record information management

TSRP Training Sector Reform Project

USI Unique student identifier

VET Vocational education and training

WASMOL Western Australian skilled migration 
occupation list

WDC Workforce development centre

Appendix 5: 
Acronyms 
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The Department of Training and Workforce Development 
welcomes your feedback on the Annual Report 2016–17.

Appendix 6:  
Feedback form

1. Overall how effective is the Annual Report in describing 
our activities in 2016–17?

   Very effective     Effective     Average     Poor

2. For what purpose did you read or refer to the  
Annual Report 2016–17?

   Information on the Department and its services

   Information on the Department’s performance in 2016–17

   Information on the future direction of the Department

   Other (please specify)

3. Please rate the following elements of the Annual Report  
(please tick in the relevant box to indicate your rating):

Excellent Good Average Poor

Information/content  

Layout of information  

Ease of finding information  

Readability  

Relevance  

4. Please tell us whether you are a:

   Member of the public

   Industry/employer representative

   VET student

   VET professional

   State Government employee

   Other

Appendices



 2016–17 Annual Report | 142

Contents Performance summaryThe year in review Significant issues Disclosures and legal complianceThe organisation Achievements 2016–17 

5.   In your opinion, how could our next Annual Report be improved?

6.   General comments

7.   Overall, how do you rate this Annual Report?

  Excellent    Good    Satisfactory    Poor

Thank you for participating in the survey. Please return completed form to: 
E: annual.report@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Post: 
Performance Evaluation and Statistics Branch  
Department of Training and Workforce Development  
Locked Bag 16, Osborne Park Delivery Centre  
Osborne Park, WA 6916

This form is also available on the Department’s website at dtwd.wa.gov.au.
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